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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and
mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than
other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized
companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this annual report, make no representation as to
its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this annual report.

This report, for which the directors (collectively the “Directors” and each the
‘Director’) of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited (the ‘Company’, and together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”, ‘we’, “our” or “us’) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Group.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge and belief (i) the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive; and (i)
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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FOR THE YEAR

Highlights of consolidated statements of comprehensive
income

Revenue

Gross profit

Profit before taxation

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income
for the year
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Financial Highlights

M5 =
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GEETHKRERBE

FY2020 FY2019
2= —ZT—N
BHEE B E
HK$’000 HK$'000
THxT T
69,499 67,509
26,137 31,467
16,252 10,557
13,644 6,963
16,676 6,272

Non-HKFRS measures

FEERMBREEDTE

FY2020 FY2019

—F=F —F—h

BEE HFE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Profit for the year F R F 13,644 6,963
Add: Non-recurring items hn o IEEEIEE

— Listing expenses — kWX - 13,092

Adjusted profit for the year (Note) F R FHREEF (M sE) 13,644 20,055

Note:  Adjusted profit for the year/period refers to profit/(loss) for the year/period excluding non- BT -

recurring listing expenses. This non-HKFRS financial data is a supplemental financial measure

that is not required by, or presented in accordance with, the HKFRS and is therefore referred

to as a “non-HKFRS” financial measure. It is not a measurement of our financial performance

under the HKFRS and should not be considered as an alternative measure to profit from

operations or any other performance measures derived in accordance with the HKFRS, or as

an alternative measure to cash flows from operating activities or as a measure of our

liquidity.

F/RANEREREFNETEEFEELTRAIZ
F/BRER(EBE) - iIFFEMBREEANEIE
RETEMBIES  EEMBREENDRERIZEE
3l ELE [FERBMBREER | M BIER - bt
FBRPANBEMEREEN THOMBEREAER - TE
BREERNNS —ERIREEBM RS ERT
ENERMEMRRER KL EHRERENS—
ERIRBDESHEE -
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Financial Highlights
B 75 2

AT YEAREND =
Highlights of consolidated statements of financial positions SEMBRIRBE
FY2020 FY2019
BT —T—N
BEFEE B EE
HK$’000 HKS'000
THERT TFETT
Non-current assets EREEE 12,846 9,799
Current assets mE)EE 94,741 91,247
Current liabilities mEaE (6,434) (6,310)
Net current assets mENEEFRE 88,307 84,937
Net assets BE S 101,074 92,398
Revenue W=

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2020 2019
—EB-BF —TNF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000

FET FAT
Slewing rings HEL S 7
— ODM — ODM 25,972 374 42,818 634
— OEM — OEM 421 0.6 951 14
— OBM — OBM 3,534 5.1 5,569 83
— Others rings — B A& 5,033 7.2 10,612 15.7

34,960 50.3 59,950 88.8
Other machineries and parts H g & S 4
— Other machineries — HAb K 17,220 24.8 = L
— Other parts — HAb B 17,319 24.9 7,559 1.2

34,539 49.7 7,559 11.2

69,499 100.0 67,509 100.0

Note:  Other rings mainly include revenue derived from the sales of slewing rings that we do not M B AT EAEREHEERMER T ELENRE
currently produce. XA S
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Best Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries, (the “Group”), is a premium manufacturer of slewing rings and
other mechanical parts, and also a “one-stop service” provider as it is able to
source other slewing rings, machineries and mechanical parts and
components for machineries of its customers. We manufacture slewing rings
that conform to applicable Japanese Industrial Standards (JIS), which has
higher quality control requirements than that produced in many other
countries in the world. Our principal subsidiaries include Best Linking Limited
(‘Best linking"), Wing Fung Machinery Company Limited ("Wing Fung") and
Kyoei Seiki Co., Limited ("Kyoei Seiki").

Our Group's business commenced in 2007 when Mr. Chan Yuk Pan, the
executive Director, chief executive officer and chairman of our Board, and the
Controlling Shareholder of our Group, utilised the internal resources of Wing
Fung, the investment holding company of Kyoei Seiki, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong in November 2005, to establish Kyoei Seiki in
September 2007. Since 2012, Best Linking commenced distribution of slewing
rings manufactured by Kyoei Seiki and sourcing of other products for our
customers.

We have expanded our customer base significantly since our commencement
of business. In 2010 and 2012, impressed by our products, a listed company
on the Singapore Exchange, which was principally engaged in the trading of
heavy machinery and diesel engine parts, and a leading machinery and parts
supply company in Japan became our customer and entered into business
relationship with us ever since. From 2011 to 2015, three Japanese equipment
manufacturers also became our regular original equipment manufacturing
("OEM") basis customers.

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability on 26 October 2018. On 15 November 2019 (the “Listing
Date”), the shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited by way of the offering of 100,000,000
new shares (the “Share Offer’) (the “Listing").

As our business continued to grow, our Group has been developing new
products and services by manufacturing other mechanical parts and
components for machineries in addition to slewing rings. These new products
enable the Group to broaden the scope of its business with existing
customers. Such mechanical parts and components are fundamental parts of
machineries which the Group sourced for its customers in the past.

About Us
28 1 T A
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Chairman’s Statement
FEWmE

TO SHAREHOLDERS
Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries, | am pleased to present the annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

RESULTS

The Board of the Company has resolved to announce the annual consolidated
results for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 on 22 March 2021. The
total revenue for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to
approximately HK$69.5 million (2019: HK$67.5 million), representing an
increase of approximately 3.0%. The net profit for the year attributable to
equity holders of the Company stood at approximately HK$13.6 million (net
profit in 2019: HKS$7.0 million, excluding the non-recurring listing related
expenses of approximately HK$13.1 million, being charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during 2019, profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company would have been approximately HK$20.1 million).
Basic and diluted earnings per share was approximately 3.4 HK cents (2019: 2.2
HK cents).

The Board considered that the Group's result for the financial year ended 31
December 2020 was satisfactory.
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Chairman’s Statement

OVERALL BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

In the first half of 2020, the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19)
pandemic (the “COVID-19 outbreak”) swept across the globe and brought
unprecedented economic impact and challenges around the world. The
continually challenging local and global market condition had a material
impact on the Group's overall performance and financial results for the first
half of the Reporting Period.

Having said that, most recent market trends have revealed that the
manufacturing sector has made a swift comeback to near-normal activity
levels, in terms of production and work resumption in China. It has emerged
stronger and healthier after a swift recovery from the public health crisis based
on the (i) positive signs in the recovery of the COVID-19 outbreak is being
contained in China and Hong Kong and (ii) the number of confirmed cases
continues to decline.

Alongside the strict pandemic prevention measures implemented worldwide,
the Group have been closely monitoring the development of the COVID-19
outbreak and have taken prudent approach and adjusted its business
strategies to face the challenges when appropriate. The sourcing part of the
business in Hong Kong plays an important role and it has emerged stronger
and healthier after a swift recovery from the public health crisis.

Furthermore, the Group has been developing new products and services by
manufacturing other mechanical parts and components for machineries in
addition to slewing rings. These new products enable the Group to broaden
the scope of our business with existing customers. Such mechanical parts and
components are fundamental parts of machineries which the Group sourced
for our customers in the past.

ERWmE

RZZ-_ZTFLEEF FRABTRES
(COVID-19) Z 15 (TCOVID-19 & 1B |) E 2 5k
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BB RE -
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Chairman’s Statement
FEWmE

OUTLOOK

Despite the COVID-19 outbreak may continue to pose short-term impact on
the global economy, the Directors believe, with the joint effort of our
customers, business partners, suppliers and employees, it will not constitute a
significant impact to our business in the long run.

The Directors are optimistic that the Group's sourcing business will remain
strong and continue to grow with tremendous potential. With a proven track
record and strong foothold in the industry, the Group will endeavour to
maintain a steady growth in its sourcing business to maximise the return for
the Company’s shareholders. Besides the Group will continue to enhance the
factory automation to alleviate the impact of continuing increase in labour
costs and overheads in the PRC. We will also continue to enhance our brand
recognition and awareness, strengthen our production team and promote our
corporate reputation.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to our customers, suppliers, business associates and the
most valued shareholders for their continuing trust and support for the Group,
and to our directors, management and staff for their commitment and
valuable contribution during the past year.

Chan Yuk Pan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 22 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a premium manufacturer of slewing rings and other mechanical
parts, and also a “one-stop service” provider as it is able to source other
slewing rings, machineries and mechanical parts and components for
machineries for its customers. A slewing ring is a necessary transmission part
for some large-size machineries and equipment, which can ensure the relative
rotational motion between objects, as well as bearing the axial force, radial
force and tilting moment simultaneously. In order to cope with the Group's
business expansion, the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were
successfully listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 15 November 2019 (the
“Listing Date").

The outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic (the “COVID-19
outbreak”) in 2020 and the resulting mandatory extension of holidays in
China and quarantine measures taken by multiple countries led to the
temporary suspension of operation of the Group's manufacturing plant. This
suspension of operation and the continuing challenging local and global
market conditions had a material impact on the Group's overall performance
and financial results for the Reporting Period. Nevertheless, its production
activities resumed in late March 2020. Given the current development of the
COVID-19 outbreak, the Group anticipates a challenging year ahead.

Having said that, most recent market trends have revealed that the
manufacturing sector has made a swift comeback to near-normal activity
levels, in terms of production and work resumption in China. It has emerged
stronger and healthier after a swift recovery from the public health crisis based
on the (i) positive signs in the recovery of the COVID-19 outbreak is being
contained in China and Hong Kong and (ii) the number of confirmed cases
continues to decline.

Furthermore, the Group has been developing new products and services by
manufacturing other mechanical parts and components for machineries in
addition to slewing rings. These new products enable the Group to broaden
the scope of its business with existing customers. Such mechanical parts and
components are fundamental parts of machineries which the Group had
sourced for its customers in the past.

Our business has improved quarter-over-quarter during the year ended 31
December 2020 (the “Reporting Period”). In the three months ended 30
September 2020 ("“Q3 2020") and three months ended 31 December 2020
("Q4 2020"), our top-line revenue grew by approximately 38.3% and 30.0%,
respectively, as compared to the same period in 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIERE W LD

The overall performance of the Group in the second half of 2020 significantly AEBR -_ZE_ZEF N EFHREHEEL T
improved as compared with the first half of 2020 and returned to similar levels ~ —Z4F F¥EAENE - WREZE_E—IE
for the same period in 2019. The Group will continue its effort to promote it~ FIEAEIEE KT - REB S M#MER H - HEHE
brand as well as to provide quality products and seize business opportunities a8 - RIRFIRE FRER  BIES i -
in various regions.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of quantities sold by product FXRIHHE-_E-—HER_ZT-_FFE+_H
category for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020: =+ —RALEFERERERESHIHESRHMA

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2020 2019
= L —2-NnE
sets (C)] Sets (%)
=3 (%) E (%)
Quantities sold EEHE
Slewing rings HELE R
— ODM — ODM 2,202 223 3,198 29.2 (996) (31.1)
— OEM — OEM 130 1.3 297 2.7 (167) (56.2)
— OBM — OBM 322 3.2 533 49 211 (39.6)
— Others — HAh 319 3.2 749 6.8 (430) (57.4)
2,973 30.0 4777 436 (1,804) (37.8)
Other machineries and parts H g & SR 4
— Other machineries — E A 10 0.1 = L 10 N/A
— Other parts — H 6,912 69.9 6,184 56.4 728 18
6,922 70.0 6,184 56.4 738 11.9
Total st 9,895 100.0 10,961 100.0 (1,066) 9.7)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Slewing rings

The Group manufactures slewing rings for local and overseas customers
primarily on an original design manufacturing (“ODM") basis. The ODM
customers include companies engaged in general wholesale trading and the
distribution of machineries and equipments or their parts, which will be re-
sold to end-users in the market and may provide related after-sales services.
The ODM business leverages on the Group's in-depth market knowledge and
know-how accumulated through years of experience since the Group's
inception. The Group is able to produce different models of slewing rings for
its customers. In the case of replacement of slewing rings, the Group can also
manufacture slewing rings which already ceased production.

In addition, the Group manufactures for some overseas customers on an OEM
basis. Some of the leading Japanese manufacturers of machineries and
equipments or their affiliates are our OEM customers. The OEM business
includes the manufacture and sale of products based on customers’
specifications and guidelines. The Group also derives its revenue from the
sales of our proprietary branded products under an original brand
manufacturer ("OBM") basis.

The decrease in sales of slewing rings was mainly attributed to the mandatory
extension of holidays in China and temporary suspension of operation of the
Group's manufacturing plant during the COVID-19 outbreak in the three
months ended 31 March 2020 (“Q1 2020") and the crisis continued to have an
impact in the three months ended 30 June 2020 (“Q2 2020"). The Group's
customers also faced challenging times during the COVID-19 outbreak.

Other machineries and parts

The Group also sources other slewing rings, machineries and mechanical parts
and components for customers. It maintains such line of business to
complement its main line of business which is the manufacture and sale of
slewing rings to enable customers to enjoy a more comprehensive “one-stop
service”. The slewing rings that the Group sources for its customers are mainly
(i) models which the Group do not currently produce; and (i) those which are
not commercially sound for the Group to produce itself when compared to
sourcing due to small scale orders or low profit margin. The machineries,
mechanical parts and components included but not limited to excavators,
undercarriage parts such as track chains, rollers and track shoes.

A major reason behind the increase in quantities sold in other machineries
and parts is due to the Group's development of new products and services by
manufacturing other mechanical parts and components for machineries in
late Q2 2020 and Q3 2020. New products enable the Group to broaden the
scope of its business with existing customers, leading to the growth of its
sourcing business. Such mechanical parts and components are fundamental
parts of machineries which the Group had sourced for its customers in the
past.
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BEEEN WM

FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE

The Group's revenue increased by 3.0% or HK$2.0 million from HK$67.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019 to HK$69.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2020.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue by product
category for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020:

Bt % [ B8
iy

AEBHKSHEE T —NF+_A=1+—
BIEFERMN67s BEBIITIEMNI0%K 208 &5
TEBE-_ZE-_EHE+_A=1+—HILFEYN

695 A&BTT °
TRIEEBE_ZE—NER_ZT_TF+_A
=+ RIEFERERERESHEHMA :

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2020 2019 +/()
—E_EF —ZT—NF
HK$’000 (%)  HKS$'000 %)  HKS$'000

F& T (%) THET (%) JT
Revenue g
Slewing rings e
— ODM — ODM 25,972 37.4 42818 634  (16,346) (39.3)
— OEM — OBM 421 0.6 951 14 (530) (55.7)
— OBM — OBM 3,534 5.1 5,569 83 (2,035) (36.5)
— Others rings — A E 5,033 7.2 10,612 157 (5,579) (52.6)

34,960 50.3 59,950 888  (24,990) @17)
Other machineries and parts H i & B4
— Other machineries —H b 17,220 24.8 = i 17,220 N/A
— Other parts —H Ath Zp 4 17,319 24.9 7,559 1.2 9,760 129.1

34,539 49.7 7,559 112 26980 356.9
Total et 69,499 100.0 67,509 100.0 1,990 29

Slewing rings I B & &

The Group manufactures slewing rings for local and overseas customers
primarily on ODM, OEM and OBM basis. Revenue from slewing rings dropped
by approximately HK$25.0 million to HK$35.0 million, representing a decrease
of 41.7%. The decrease in overall was mainly attributed to the mandatory
extension of holidays in China and temporary suspension of operation of the
Group's manufacturing plant during the COVID-19 outbreak in Q1 2020 and
the crisis continued to have an impact in Q2 2020. Furthermore, one of the
Group’s major ODM customers was acquired by another construction part
company during 2020. Such customer is currently under reorganisation and
the sales from them decreased by approximately HK$2.3 million when
compared to 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other machineries and parts

The Group also sources other slewing rings, machineries and mechanical parts
and components for customers. Such machineries, mechanical parts and
components included but not limited to excavators, undercarriage parts such
as track chains, rollers and track shoes. Since late Q2, 2020 the Group has
developed new products and wider range of servicing by manufacturing
other mechanical parts and components for machineries besides slewing
rings. Revenue from the other machineries and parts increased by
approximately 356.9% year-on-year or HK$27.0 million from HK$7.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2019 to HK$34.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2020.

The increase in revenue from other machineries and parts was mainly due to
the development of new products and services under this category.

BB R AR S o AT

Bt 4640 % SR 44
AEENARFREBEMEE & - EERD
o ZERGERBUEBTERTIERIZLHE K
BE - WEEE  REMEEER - A%
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=t+—HIFE - Emm R r U s B
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/'_t'fﬁé\—_fé/_\ /‘\jﬂ-’r
= = A'J pff 7]

Geographical location IRV E

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by geographical TRAIEHE —_E_EFR_T—NF+_H

location of our customers for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 —t+—HIEFEREFHIEME S D MRS
-

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—-BHLKFE

2020 2019 +/()
—ECERF ZE-NF

HK$’000 (%)  HKS$'000 %)  HK$'000

FET (%) TAT )  TAT
Singapore N 24,120 34.7 32,555 482 (8,435) (25.9)
Hong Kong BE 18,134 26.1 4,537 6.7 13,597 299.7
Northern Ireland It ERE 10,109 14.5 875 13 9,234 1,055.3
Malaysia SR EE 8,555 12.3 18,737 278 (10,182) (54.3)
Japan SN 3,421 4.9 4,105 6.1 (684) (16.7)
The PRC & 1,391 2.0 2,018 30 (627) 31.1)
Philippines JEREE 1,215 1.7 0 0.0 1,215 N/A
Thailand = 1,009 1.5 142 0.2 867 6106
Taiwan =91 823 1.2 945 14 (122) (12.9)
Canada il 166 0.2 1,003 15 (837) (83.4)
Others =) 556 0.9 246 04 310 126.0
The United States EH = 0.0 2,346 35 (2,346) (100.0)
69,499 100.0 67,509 100.0 1,990 29

ASEAN countries continue to be the key market for the Group, especially the HBEERMAAREENTEmE  LHEH
Singaporean and Malaysian markets where the Group has footprints for about — Ji3 R BRI - AEBRZETH O
10 years. By leveraging the opportunity of initiatives behind The Beltand Road ~ B4+ F - (£ —F —KREHMEE - KA
Initiative, Malaysia has cooperated with China to carry out a number of ZTEEAREASEREZEERETIZER - E8T
infrastructure construction projects. Those infrastructural constructions have 12— E SR EL BB T AN AT o &K
driven the domestic demand for slewing rings for construction equipments. B EZERRNBEEE L IBEER  MEEX
We have built a strong foundation with customers in these countries and the  EAREH K AWM E RFEEEENAARERY
traditional demand for natural resources from forestry and mining activities for ~ {BE#F T skt 5 F RN EE o

construction and heavy equipments also benefit our Group.
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However, globally, the Group's customers may also face challenging times
during the COVID-19 outbreak. The challenges caused by the pandemic have
affected the operation and business performance of various industries in the
short run for countries such as Singapore, Malaysia, Japan, the U.S. and other
European countries where most of the Group’s customers are located.
Revenue generated from the Singaporean market decreased from
approximately HK$32.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 by
approximately 25.9% or HK$8.5 million to HK$24.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 while for the revenue generated from the Malaysian
market decreased from HK$18.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019
by approximately 54.3% or HK$10.2 million to HK$8.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2020. The decrease was mainly due to the preventive
measures imposed by many governments such as a nationwide lockdown.

In response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and in order to meet the
needs of diverse business of our customers, the Group has devoted more
resources to accelerate our products development. At the same time, the
Group's sourcing business in Hong Kong plays an important role. Thus, this
strategic adjustment initiative has proven to be beneficial to the Group in
maintaining its competitive advantage as “one-stop service” provider, which
led to the increase in revenue from Hong Kong, Northern Ireland and The
Philippines. Revenue generated from the market in Hong Kong increased from
approximately HK$4.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 by
approximately 299.7% or HK$13.6 million to HK$18.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2020, while revenue generated from Northern Ireland
increased from approximately HK$0.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 by approximately 1,055.3% or HK$9.2 million to HK$10.1million for the
year ended 31 December 2020, and for the market in The Philippines is
flourishing and was approximately HK$1.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2020.
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BIERE W LD

COST OF SALES

The following table sets out the breakdown of our costs of sales for the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019:

SHE AN
TRINGBE-_TE-_TFA_FT—NF+=-HA
=+t HIFERHERARPMA :

For the year ended 31 December

BE+—-—A=+—HLEE

2020 2019 +/()
—EERF —E-NF
HK$’000 (%)  HK$'000 %)  HK$'000
FET (%) TFTET ()

Cost of sales SHE KA

Cost of inventories and consumables 17 & & 34 £ 5 A 2 36,865 85.0 27,668 76.8 9,197 332
Depreciation e 1,357 3.1 1,578 4.4 (221) (14.0)
Overheads IR 1,331 3.1 2,266 6.2 (935) (413)
Direct labour costs HEELTITRA 3,809 8.8 4,530 126 (721) (16.0)
Total Wt 43,362 100.0 36,042 100.0 7320 203

The cost of sales primarily consists of costs of inventories and consumables,
depreciation on plant and machinery, overheads and direct labour costs
relating to its production. The Group’s cost of sales increased from
approximately HK$36.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 by
approximately 20.3% or HK$7.3 million to HK$43.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2020, which was primarily due to the increase in revenue and
having different product mix during the year.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The administrative expenses of the Group decreased from HK$20.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2019 by approximately 59.3% or HK$12.1 million
to approximately HK$8.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. Such
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in non-recurring listing related
expenses of approximately HK$13.1 million; offset by the increase in staff cost
by approximately HK$0.3 million; and the net increase in other administrative
expenses by approximately HK$0.7 million. Other administrative expenses
mainly represent the auditor's remuneration and the legal and professional
fees, which assisted the Group to enhance its corporate governance and
compliance aspects after Listing.
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PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately
HK$13.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, as compared to
approximately HK$7.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Excluding the non-recurring listing related expenses of approximately HK$13.1
million, being charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income during 2019, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
would have been approximately HK$20.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2019.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has financed its business with internally generated cash flows and
proceeds received from the Listing. As at 31 December 2020, the Group's cash
and cash equivalents were HK$43.1 million, decreased by approximately 12.0%
or HK$5.9 million, as compared with HK$49.0 million as at 31 December 2019.
The decrease was mainly attributable to the utilisation of the one-off receipt
of proceeds from the Listing in 2019. Bank deposits and cash were principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars and Renminbi. The
Group will continue to use the internally generated cash flows and proceeds
received from the Listing as a source of funding for future developments.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's total current assets and current liabilities
were approximately HK$94.7 million (as at 31 December 2019: HK$91.2 million)
and HK$6.4 million (as at 31 December 2019: HK$6.3 million) respectively,
representing a current ratio of 14.8 times (as at 31 December 2019: 14.5 times).
As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any bank borrowings (as at

1 December 2019: Nil). As at 31 December 2020, the total interest-bearing
bills payables was approximately HK$0.9 million (as at 31 December 2019: Nil)
and the gearing ratio of the Group was 0.9% (as at 31 December 2019: Nil).
The gearing ratio equals total interest bearing bills payables divided by total
equity and multiplied by 100%.

ERE RO

KA F) R REAE R R

BE_ T -_ZTHE+_A=1+—HILFEE AR
AESFEABLENOAE136BEBT ' M
E_E-NE+-A=+—BLEEINAD
JOBEETT °

xR EDFAZE-—NFREE2EKERNIE
REELETHERXHNBIBEEET BE-
E-NF+-_A=+—RBLFEARRAEER
BARIERMAE R 200 BEBTT

REBESRMBER

AREBENRNBEER SR LK ETRESFTE
REREEBREES RZZTZTF+=A
=+—H AEENBESRRSEEW AL
BEBL B-_ZE—NF+-_A=+—HHK
Q0BEEBETTE LA 120%HK59BEETT ° A/

BHEEHR T -AFHAR LT BEK
BEPISFRIBME - RITFERRBRETBUE

T RERAREGE - REE G EE AN
EER SR KA LT WEE AT S RIBE R AR R
BHRNES IR

W-Z *§¢+*H:+fa C AEER RSB
BENMRDABREBEY N AEMTEEET (R
:2—n¢+fﬂ:+—5:wzﬁé%iﬂﬁ
4B BRET(R_E—NF+-_A=+—H:

63BEEBIT) MEBLEER148BF(R=2ZE—N
F+_A=+—"H:145F) R-_ZE_-F
+ZA=+—H *EEHERTER(R=
E-NF+-A=+—H8: %) R_ZT_FTF
+—A=+—H8" a‘fgﬂgﬁﬁﬂ%m REEA#09
BEBT(R=ZE—hLhE+=_RA=+—8:

=) $§%lﬂ'\]§§ﬁ%tb$ﬁo.9%(ﬁé_g
*n¢+*ﬂz+fa'§)§FE%%”g
RABET B R EZIERR AR BRI 100% ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - —E - FF R 19



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN WM

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2020, the share capital of the Group comprised only
ordinary shares. The capital structure of the Group mainly consists of
obligations under finance leases and equity attributable to owners of the
Group, comprising issued share capital, share premium, retained profits and
other reserves.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

On 15 November 2019, the Company issued a total of 100,000,000 shares by
way of Hong Kong public offering and placing at a price of HK$0.55 per share,
and successfully listed its shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

The net proceeds of the Share Offer received by the Company in relation to
the Listing after the deduction of underwriting fees and commissions and all
related expenses were approximately HK$28.4 million. On 9 September 2020,
the Board announced and resolved to change the use of the net proceeds as
set out in the prospectus. As at the report date, the directors consider that
these proceeds have been applied in accordance with the proposed
application set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Proposed Use of
Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 31 October 2019 (the
"Prospectus”’) and as amended in the announcement.

Details of the original allocation of the net proceeds, the revised allocation of
the net proceeds, the utilisation of the net proceeds as at 31 December 2020
and the remaining balance after the revised allocation of the net proceeds as
at 31 December 2020 are set out as follows:
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BB R AR S o AT

Use of proceeds FrSRERR

Expected
Revised timeline
Percentage percentage Revised for the
of net of net Net Net Amount Amount intended
proceeds  proceeds proceeds proceeds utilized remaining use

EFERE ESCH) RERE
ERENE  BENE & &  FEA BT 2BH
REAOL BITEIE MEFR REARE &8 8 BEX

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TExr TiEx TExT THE=x

To acquire and replace machineriesand ~ UREE & B HA M Iz
equipment with anaim toenhanceand &% & IAIRFH I

expand our production capacity at our REMERE Q2 of 2021

production facilities in Dongguan, EERMNESR = T
the PRC 60.60% 60.60% 17,210 17,210 4,143 13067 BZZE

To enlarge our market share and BATHMER Q2 0f 2022

strengthen our marketing efforts MEEENE 2
14.60% 4.40% 4,146 1,246 161 1085 FE-FE

To increase our level of automation Re a8tk Q2 0f 2021
Zh =z
760% 7.60% 2,158 2,158 39 2119 BZEFE

To establish our ERP system HILERP R4 Q2 0f 2022
6.00% 6.00% 1,704 1,704 10 1694 E-FFE

To expand our finance department ThEBTSER Q2 of 2022
gt £
5.00% 5.00% 1420 1420 64 1356 EZFE

To enhance staff training Mg 8 TH3| Q4 of 2021
T —F
0.80% 0.80% 227 27 7 20 ENEE

Working capital 2EES Q4 of 2021
“T-—F
5.40% 156% 1535 4435 1873 2562 ENEE

100.00% 100% 28400 28,400 6,297 22,103

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has utilised approximately HK$63 million R-ZZE-_FEE+_-_A=+—H AE=EE2HH
(as shown in the “Amount utilized” column of the table above). The unutilised  4)63 B &St Gl F3& [FrEh A €% | — AT
amount of the net proceeds have been deposited with licensed banks in ~ 7R) o RE)B WIS RIBFREEF RN E B
Hong Kong. FEREERTT o

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - =& — T F 3R 21



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEN WM

Comparison of business objectives and actual business (BB EHERERER 2R

progress

The following is a comparison between the Group's business plans as setout LA T AEHRHBERER (R _ZE_FFNANH
in the Prospectus which were revised on 9 September 2020, and the Group's  &{EE] ) I AEBEGAZIRAEBEHE —-Z
actual business progress for the year ended 31 December 2020: TEF+ A+ HUITEEBREBER

Business plan as set out in the prospectus Actual business progress as at 31 December 2020

BREREZNEEE R-ZB-BS+ A=+ -HNEREKER

To acquire and replace machineries and equipment with ~ The Group was in the process of purchasing 3 units of machines and
an aim to enhance and expand our production capacity at ~ paid deposits of about HK $4.1 million for the machineries. Two of

our production facilities in Dongguan, the PRC them (high speed milling machine and raceway quenching

FERENEERGEE L F BB NBRAEIEF  machine) are expected to arrive in the second quarter of 2021. These

ERE new equipments will be used in the major process in the production
of products.

AEBEBE=-GHMR  XARRINO4 1 BBETNRS

Hmas (S REERARNREFEANERK) B R _F
T FRFRER RSN RERARNEREENTET
}“%‘

To enlarge our market share and strengthen our marketing ~ Based on the revised allocation of the proceeds, in view of the
efforts COVID-19 outbreak in 2020 and the quarantine measures taken by
BATSMERINEEENE the PRC and other countries and travel restrictions, the Group had

withdrawn its enrolment to several trade exhibitions and will refine
its marketing plans.

EREFSBABFRIEBERAE  BERN T _FTFEFECOVID-19
i - AR B R H A B R ERER PR B Fe EG&ERQ?EBE%U F AEE
EHCH2EZABESRES - WHTEHEHTE -

During the year, the Group increased human resources to the sales
department to strengthen the sales support. In addition, the Group
hired a consultant to design the web pages for the Group companies
and provide advice in promotional strategies.
$%E$$FEE%’ EEHFIEANER - MRIGBNIHEER o
Foh AEEEFERARMARTEETIRESERBNE
8o
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Business plan as set out in the prospectus

BRERERNRETE

BB R AR S o AT

Actual business progress as at 31 December 2020

R-ZB-EF+T-A=+-HHNEBREKER

To increase our level of automation

’®BEBEKRF

To establish our enterprise resource planning (ERP) system

BAREITEERRE(ERP) 24T

To expand our finance department

BRI ERFT

The Group is discussing with the potential service provider on the
development of new equipment for automation and also the
redevelopment of the existing equipment to enhance the
automation level. The visit plan of service provider from Hong Kong
was delayed due to the travel restrictions of the COVID-19 outbreak
and could not proceed to further stage.
REBERBERGHER N RAZNNBBRE AR
ENHABEREREAIES BBLKE - REFBHNRBHE
7 9 2 57 51 81 B COVID-19 5 15 H 3R 49 ik 22 R ) i B A8 - 4
EEAT —FEE -

At the same time, the Group is in the process of developing a new
equipment to achieve automatic packaging, which is now in the
testing phase.
A - AREBEEEREFRE  UEBEREBLEE BRKDE
AR ER -

The Group is in the process of identifying and appointing the system
service provider. The Group is planning to enhance the data
management effectiveness especially in personnel attendance,
payroll accounting and other aspects such as document control.
AEEFENEREEEZSRBGHEER - REBEGHEI IR
BEBUE LHEEIZY ITARERTERSHMA
m o

Meanwhile, the Group has improved the current system by
increasing the capacity and efficiency of data processing.
R - AEEBBIRASBEENENNEERN  XEBRE

The Group had recruited a senior accountant during the third
quarter of 2020 and continued to identify suitable and high-quality
candidates to expand the financial department.
AEEEE_Z_ZFEFERESRGE - WAES®
EEBEBRENREANETI SN
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEN WM

Business plan as set out in the prospectus

BRERERNRETE

Actual business progress as at 31 December 2020

ROZCERFT A=t -HNEBREKER

To enhance staff training
ana% 8 T

Working capital
LEE®

During the year, two employees were trained and certified with I1SO
quality management system. Also, the group had taken action and
prepared training courses for numbers of technical personnel.
RAFE MEELITKBITRESOESERRRAESE -
o REEBERRITE - /EBRMA BEEFIRE -

The re-allocation of the Net Proceeds from strengthening its
marketing efforts to supplementing the sound working capital for
operation of the Company would be more beneficial to meet the
current operation needs of the Group, increase its financial flexibility,
and provide more buffer to cope with the future economic
uncertainty.

REEGMBTISHBENMESFIFEEN O - UBAR
NAEEMTHNREREEES  BEANNMEAEEE A
MEEFE  EIMEMBEEN - WIRHEHE S EEHURN KK
KRBNTEEAE -

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had utilised approximately
HKS$1.9 million as working capital for of on-going operations,
including the resources used for development of new products and
services by manufacturing other mechanical parts and components
for machineries besides slewing rings.
R-E-ZF+_A=+—8 AEBECHHEMIGEST
ERFERENEEES  PREABEEREE AN E
bttt KR ¢ - BT E m RGP ANER
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not hold any significant investment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had no material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 78 employees (as at 31 December
2019: 83 employees). Remuneration is determined by reference to prevailing
market terms and in accordance with the performance, qualification and
experience of each individual employee. The emoluments of the Directors are
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee’), with reference to their respective contribution
of time, effort and expertise on the Company’s matters. In addition, employees
are entitled to performance and discretionary year-end bonuses.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s banking facilities were secured by
pledged bank deposits with an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$2,400,000 (as at 31 December 2019: Nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets.

BEEEN WA

EAKRE

R-ZZE-ZFF+-_A=1+—8 AEELER
BEMEAKRE -

EAREBEREHENBEAR  BHEAQ
AREE QT
REZZZE_FTF+A=1+—HIEFE &K
SEMEERNKEXLENRBAR - BEAR
FABNT o

18 & & % M B 2R
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BEEH
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BbE LA KRR TIF 30A $£49 2,400,000 7T (R
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EAREREXREENREKE

BRAREZMMEES
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I\/\anagement Discussion and Analysis

B R

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss due to changes in foreign exchange
rates. Our Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to USD and RMB. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities, which are denominated in these
currencies. Currently, the Group has not entered into agreements nor
purchased instruments to hedge the Group's exchange rate risks. Any material
fluctuation in the exchange rates of HKD or RMB may have an impact on the
operating results of the Group.

The management considers that the foreign exchange risk with respect to
USD is not significant as HKD is pegged to USD and transactions denominated
in USD are mainly carried out by entities with the same functional currency.
The exchange rate of RMB to HKD is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. The Group
manages foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the
foreign currency rates.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

PROSPECTS

The Group will continue to keep an eye on the development of the COVID-19
pandemic, maintain close communication with customers and suppliers, as
well as review and timely adjust the Group's strategies.

Notwithstanding the temporary suspension of production lines during the
first half of 2020, the Group has continued to satisfy the global customers’
demand as the production lines managed to resume to full capacity shortly
after the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition to serving our
customers, employees’ health and well-being is also the Group's top priority.
During the initial outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group quickly
established a pandemic prevention and control measures to safeguard
employees’ health and safety, introducing flexible remote working
arrangement and implementing efficient social distancing measures across all
our offices globally.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Our goal is to strengthen our position as a premium slewing ring
manufacturer, and to leverage on our competitive advantages to expand the
scale of our operation and increase our profit margin. We also aim to increase
our competitiveness in this fragmented slewing rings manufacturing industry
by (i) increasing our efficiency and productivity; (ii) raising the quality of our
products; and (i) reducing our costs of production and our reliance on
manpower. To achieve such objective, the Group will continue to implement
the following strategies:

acquiring and replacing machineries and equipment with an aim to
enhance and expand our production capacity at our production
facilities in Dongguan, the PRG;

enlarging our market share and strengthening our marketing efforts;
increasing our level of automation;

establishing our enterprise resource planning (ERP) system;

expanding our finance department; and

enhancing staff training.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENEATIERE

As at 22 March 2021, the date of the Report of the Directors, the biographical
details of the directors (the “Director(s)”) and senior management of Best
Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company’) are as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (BRJEHZ) (‘Mr. YP Chan’), aged 41,
chief executive officer and chairman of our Board, and the Controlling

is the executive Director,

Shareholder of our Group. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. Since 2007, Mr. YP Chan has been responsible for the overall
management of our Group, including strategic planning, as well as sales and
business development. He was appointed director of Wing Fung, Kyoei Seiki
and Best Linking in June 2007, August 2007 and December 2018 respectively
and was appointed Director on 26 October 2018 and was re-designated as an
executive Director on 12 March 2019.

Mr. YP Chan completed his Form 7 education in Avondale College in Auckland,
New Zealand. From 1999 to 2002, Mr. YP Chan attended Auckland University
of Technology and took courses in business computing, applied science and
information technology. In March 2004, Mr. YP Chan obtained a certificate in
advanced Japanese language course at the Japanese Language Institute of
Sapporo in Sapporo, Japan.

Mr. YP Chan is an entrepreneur with over 10 years operational experience. He
was involved in the trading of machineries and spare parts in Hong Kong and
manufacture and sales of spare parts in the PRC. After completing the
advanced Japanese language course at the Japanese Language Institute of
Sapporo in Sapporo, Japan in 2004, Mr. YP Chan worked as a sales and
marketing executive in a company engaged in distribution and exportation of
confectionery and related products from December 2004 to December 2005
in Sapporo, Japan, which enabled him not only to further his Japanese
language skill, but also gave him the opportunity to develop his network
within the Japanese business community. After returning to Hong Kong,
starting from January 2006, he worked in South Wing Machinery Co. Limited
as a sales and marketing executive and gained experience in the sale and
supply of heavy duty equipment and parts industry. In September 2007, he
founded Kyoei Seiki through Wing Fung which is principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sales of slewing rings. Throughout the past 10 years, Mr.
YP Chan has established and maintained strong business relationship with
general wholesale traders or distributors of machineries or parts in Asia, USA,
Europe and Japan and gained valuable experience in the manufacture and
sale of spare parts for machineries.

Mr. YP Chan is the brother of Mr. LP Chan, an executive Director of the

Company.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr.Chan Lung Pan (FRBEH ) (‘Mr. LP Chan"), aged 39, was appointed an executive
Director on 12 March 2019. He first joined our Group in November 2005 as
director and shareholder of Wing Fung. Wing Fung had no business
operations until September 2007 when Mr. YP Chan utilised his personal
resources and internal resources of Wing Fung to establish Kyoei Seiki. Mr. LP
Chan resigned from his directorship position in April 2011 to pursue his other
career development. He is also a member of the Remuneration Committee.
He is responsible for human resources management of our Group.

Mr. LP Chan attended Avondale College in Auckland, New Zealand, where he
was enrolled as an international student in Year 12 from February 1998 to
December 1999. He obtained his school certificate from the New Zealand
Qualifications Authority in New Zealand in 1999 and later studied Japanese in
Tohoku Foreign Language and Tourism College in Japan from October 2000
to March 2002.

Mr. LP Chan has over 15 years of experience in procurement and
management. He commenced his career in South Wing Machinery Co. Limited
in September 2003 as a trainee. He was subsequently promoted to the post of
purchase and sales manager from 1 April 2009 to 30 September 2011, being
responsible for purchase management, inventory control, contract
negotiations, department co-ordination and complaints handling.

Mr. LP Chan is the brother of Mr. YP Chan, and executive Director of the
Company.

Independent Non-executive directors

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan (FR5A&) (‘Mr. Adrian Chan”), aged 42, was
appointed an independent non-executive Director on 21 October 2019. He is
also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee. He is responsible for overseeing the areas with regard to the
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, internal control, corporate
governance and providing independent advice to our Group.

Mr. Adrian Chan graduated from the University of New South Wales, Australia
with a bachelor degree in commerce in accounting and finance in April 2000.
He became a member of CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in June 2006 and November 2009 respectively.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENEATIERE

Mr. Adrian Chan has over 9 years of experience in the field of corporate
finance. He started his career with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and worked in
the audit department of the firm from January 2000 to March 2000. Mr. Adrian
Chan then worked in various financial institutions and investment banks,
including DBS Vickers Securities, with his last position as an executive in the
corporate finance department, from April 2000 to December 2001, DBS Asia
Capital Limited, with his last position as assistant vice president in equity
capital markets, wholesale banking-global financial markets from January 2002
to July 2005, and UOB Asia (Hong Kong) Limited, with his last position as
associate director, from July 2005 to November 2009. After leaving UOB Asia
(Hong Kong) in November 2009, Mr. Adrian Chan switched his career from
corporate finance to financial management. From November 2009 to June
2015, he was the chief financial officer of Enviro Energy International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1102.HK), where he was responsible for overall financial
management, internal control and accounting. In July 2015, Mr. Adrian Chan
was appointed the chief financial officer of Sun Ray Capital Investment
Corporation. In July 2018, Mr. Adrian Chan was appointed the chief financial
officer of LabyRx Immunologic Therapeutics Limited and in August 2018, Mr.
Adrian Chan was appointed the chief financial officer of Lifespans Limited.

Mr. Adrian Chan was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Cheerwin Group Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 6601.HK) on 19 February 2021.
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The details of directorship held in public listed companies by Mr. Adrian Chan

are as follows:

Company name

AREH

Petromin Resources Ltd.

Petromin Resources Ltd.

Grand Baoxin Auto Group
Limited

FE?E@E%E
AR

Cheerwin Group Limited

Directors and Senior Management

EENSATIERE

Principal business
activities of

the company

ARANERERES

Petroleum and natural gas

exploration and production

RimRRARBEREE

Sales and service of
motor vehicles

R HE KRS

Household care, personal
care and pet care
products production

FIEEE  EARER
EYERERLE

SR :

Stock Code Stock Exchange

BRAPI

PTRH

PTRH

1293.HK

1293HK

6601.HK

6601.HK

B 5

Toronto Venture
Stock Exchange

%ia% Rk ES
R

Main Board of
the Stock Exchange
BT EMR

Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

BRATER
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Position

Bifu

Director, chief financial officer

and corporate secretary
B UHEER
NEWE

Independent non-executive
director

BUFNTES

Independent non-executive
director

BUFRNTES

FROABEERN AR EMAREEEENFHIETH

Duration

Lo

December 2015
to March 2018
S—HETZA
—N\F

:I:—?

=k

November 2011
to present
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February 2021
to present
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Directors and Senior Management

EENEATIERE

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam (‘& I5 &) (“Ms. Tsang”), aged 47, was appointed an
independent non-executive Director on 21 October 2019. She is also a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. She is responsible
for overseeing the areas with regard to the strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, internal control, corporate governance and providing
independent advice to our Group.

Ms. Tsang graduated from The University of Melbourne, Australia with a
bachelor's degree of commerce in December 1996 and a master degree in
practising accounting from Monash University, Australia in November 2000.
She became a member of CPA Australia in July 2001.

Ms. Tsang has over 24 years of experience in the field of taxation. She started
her career in PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong and worked with the firm
from February 1997 to March 2003, with her last position as senior consultant,
where she obtained experience in tax compliance matters. Between
November 2004 and February 2007, Ms. Tsang worked in Ross Melville PKF in
Auckland, New Zealand with her last position as tax consultant. She then
rejoined PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong as senior consultant in
February 2007 and stayed with the firm until April 2010 with her last position
as manager. Between April 2010 and April 2015, Ms. Tsang was employed by
BDO Limited with her last position as tax principal of Hong Kong tax team.
From April 2015 up to now, she has been working in a private equity real
estate investment group as vice president responsible for overseeing the tax
matters.

Ms. Tam Ho Ting (72 A] #%) (“Ms. Tam”), aged 42, was appointed an independent
non-executive Director on 21 October 2019. She is also a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee and the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. She is responsible for overseeing the areas with
regard to the strategy, policy, performance, accountability, internal control,
corporate governance and providing independent advice to our Group.

Ms. Tam obtained a bachelor degree in business administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in May 2000. In January 2008, she was
admitted an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. Ms. Tam has been a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since July 2009 as well as a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since October 2015.
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Tam has over 20 years of work experience in the accounting and financial
work sector. Before joining our Group, Ms. Tam worked in various accounting
firms and multi-national companies. She started her career in the assurance
and business advisory department in Moores Rowland and worked there from
September 2000 to December 2002, with her last position as associate Ill. From
December 2002 to March 2004, Ms. Tam worked as an assistant manager in
KPMG, Hong Kong. From April 2004 to June 2007, she worked in Hutchison
Telecommunications (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Hutchison Telecommunications Hong Kong Holdings Limited (stock code:
215.HK), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with her
final position as senior accountant in the finance and administration division.
From June 2007 to August 2010, Ms. Tam worked in Avery Dennison Hong
Kong, B.V., with her last position as finance manager in the production and
costing sector of the financial planning and analysis department. Ms. Tam
then worked as manager in the financial analysis department in Hasbro Far
East Limited, Hong Kong from August 2011 to August 2013. Since November
2013, Ms. Tam has provided accounting and book-keeping services to private
companies engaged in various sectors of industries in Hong Kong, including
pharmacy services and other services. In September 2018, Ms. Tam established
CT Business Services Limited which principal activity is the provision of
accounting and book-keeping services.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEhaRERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Ho Chee Gilbert (R 85) (“Mr. Chan"), aged 33, joined our Group
as the chief financial officer on 1 November 2018. He was later appointed the
chief operation officer and company secretary of our Group on 12 March 2019.
He is primarily responsible for overseeing overall accounting, financial
management, operation and compliance and company secretarial matters.

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor degree in commerce (accounting) from
Macquarie University in Australia in September 2009. He further obtained a
master's degree in financial analysis from The University of New South Wales
in August 2010. Mr. Chan has been a member of CPA Australia since
December 2013. Mr. Chan has over 8 years of work experience in accounting
and finance covering a vast range of clientele including manufacturing and
food and beverage industries. From December 2010 to October 2013, Mr.
Chan worked in BDO Limited, with his last position as senior associate, where
he participated in the annual audit and special engagement of listed
companies in Hong Kong. From October 2013 to July 2018, Mr. Chan worked
in PricewaterhouseCoopers, with his last position as manager in assurance
practice, where he has been involved in audits for public, sizable private and
multinational companies as well as initial public offerings.

Ms. Chen Fang (FR75) (“Ms. Chen”), aged 49, is our financial controller and
assistant to the chief executive officer. Ms. Chen joined the finance
department of Group in September 2007. She is primarily responsible for
overseeing the financial and accounting management of Kyoei Seiki.

Ms. Chen graduated from Shaanxi Labor College (BR#H T8 2B ) in the PRC
in July 1998 with a diploma in computing and accounting (5t & B &5+ =
%) and has over 10 years of experience in accounting work. Prior to joining
our Group, between January 2002 and December 2003, Ms. Chen worked in
the accounting department of Guangzhou Baili Engineering Machinery Parts
Co, Ltd* (M AE TR AL ABR A A]) in Guangzhou, the PRC.

¥ For identification purpose only
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Report of the Directors

The directors of the Company submit their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020.

REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated in Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 26 October 2018. The
registered office of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

Pursuant to the completion of the reorganisation as detailed in the section
headed “History, Reorganisation and Group Structure” in the Prospectus to
rationalise the structure of the Group in preparation for the listing of the
Company's shares on the Stock Exchange, the Company became the holding
company of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group. The Shares of the
Company were listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange on 15 November
2019 through Share Offer as described in the section headed “Structure and
Conditions of the Share Offer” in the Prospectus.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S SHARE
OFFER

The aggregate net proceeds from the Share Offer (after deducting listing
related expenses borne by the Company) amounted to approximately
HKS$28.4 million. The proposed application of net proceeds as stated in the
Prospectus has been adjusted according to the principles and proposed
percentage of utilisation as specified in the section headed “Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus. The use of proceeds from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2020 is included in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 20.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Report fthe Directors
ESEW

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group for the Year as required by Schedule 5 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a fair review of the Group's
business, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, can be
found in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 11 to 27
of this annual report and the section headed “Risk Management and Internal
Control” on page 59 of the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.
In addition, discussion on Group’s environmental policies and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group are contained in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 65 to 100 of this annual report. The discussion forms part of this
directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income in page 109.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$0.02 per ordinary share).
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Report of the Directors

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM
to be held on Friday, 11 June 2021, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 8 June 2021 to Friday, 11 June 2021 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares in the Company will be
effected. In order to qualify for entitlement to attend and vote at the Annual
General Meeting, all transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Center, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 7 June
2021.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of association of
the Company (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of Cayman Islands
which oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

DONATION

No charitable or other donation was made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in Note
22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report fthe Directors
ESEW

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and Notes 33
and 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report
were as follow:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Lung Pan

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam

Ms. Tam Ho Ting

Biographical details of the directors are set out in pages 28 to 34 of this annual
report.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation and shall be subject to re-election at each AGM,
provided that every Director shall retire at least once every three years.

Accordingly, Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan, Ms. Tsang Hau Lam and Ms. Tam
Ho Ting shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

The Group has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors annual written confirmation of his/ her independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Group considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years and shall continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with the terms of the service agreement.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of one year and shall continue
thereafter until it is terminated by either party by giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party.

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the Annual General
Meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of emoluments of Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the
Group are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statement.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS — DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

Directors’ and Chief Executive Interests in Shares and Share
Options

As at 31 December 2020, the interests or short positions of the Company’s
directors and the chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong (the
“SFO")) which are required: (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of
dealings by Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing
Rules, were as follows:
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Name of substantial shareholder capacity/

nature of interest

TERROME EBIDHEMEE

Mr. Chan Yuk Pan’s Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1)

BRI R ENZEEB R (1)

Percentage of interest

Total number in our Company'’s

of share(s) held issued capital
RAEATE BT

Fris R4 BRAEZNE D
300,000,000 shares (L) 75%
300,000,000 AR (L) 75%

Note 1:  Mr. YP Chan legally and beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of C Centrum
Holdings Limited (“C Centrum”) and is its sole director. Accordingly, Mr. YP Chan is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by C Centrum by virtue of the SFO.

Note 2:  The letter “L" denotes “Long position” in such shares.

MizE1 : BRABMW %k &£ &% Rk & % #% A C Centrum Holdings
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the directors or
chief executives had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company or Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interest and short positions which he was taken or deemed
to have under provision of the SFO) or as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Share Option Scheme

Our Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), which was approved by written resolutions passed by its
shareholders on 21 October 2019 and became unconditional on 15 November
2019. Our directors consider the purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
reward the participants defined under the Share Option Scheme for their past
contribution to the success of the Group and to provide incentive to them to
further contribute to our Group. The principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme are summarized under the paragraph headed “13. Share Option
Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus and in accordance with the
provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The following is a summary
of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme.

1.  Purpose and Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the
best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees
(full-time and part-time), Directors, consultants, advisers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners and service
providers of our Group and to promote the success of the business of
the Group. The Board is entitled to determine and make an offer of
grant of an option to any eligible persons.

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of ten years
from the date of the grant of option.
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Report of the Directors

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company must not exceed 10% of the total issued Shares of the
Company as at the Listing Date unless the Company obtains an
approval from the Shareholders. Therefore, the Company may grant
options of up to 40,000,000 Shares (or such number of Shares as result
from a subdivision or a consolidation of such 40,000,000 Shares from
time to time) to the participants under the Share Option Scheme.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company at
any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
No options shall be granted under any schemes of the Company
(including the Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the limit being
exceeded.

Maximum entitlement of Shares of each eligible participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
all the share options granted and to be granted to each participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares
in issue. Any further grant of options is subject to shareholders’ approval
in general meeting with such Eligible Participants and his associates
abstaining from voting.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date on which the option is
offered to an eligible participant, provided that the period from such
date shall not be more than ten years after the adoption date of the
Share Option Scheme or after the termination of the Share Option
Scheme.

The minimum period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised

An offer for the grant must be accepted within seven days inclusive of
the day on which such offer was made.

The amount payable on acceptance of an option and the period
within which payments shall be made

The amount payable by the grantee to the Company on acceptance of
the offer for the grant of an option is HKD1.00.
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7. The basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be at such price as
determined by our Board and notified to an eligible person, and shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date, which must be a
trading day, on which our Board passes a resolution approving the
making of an offer of grant of an option to an eligible participant; (i) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the share option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share on the date of grant of the share option.

8. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to earlier termination of the Share Option Scheme by the
Company in general meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme
will remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on
the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme, after which period no
further share options shall be granted. All share options granted prior to
the expiry of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, no share option was granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2019
was the Company, or any of its holding companies, its subsidiaries or its fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable any of the Company’s
directors or members of its management (Including their spouse and children
under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, or had exercise any such rights in the Company or
other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Transaction, Arrangement or Contracts
of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding
company was a party and in which any of the Company’s directors or
members of its management had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted in the year ended 31 December 2020 or at any time
during the year.
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Report of the Directors

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS — SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS

Substantial Shareholder’s Interests in Shares and Share
Options

As at 31 December 2020, so far as known by the Directors, the following
persons/entities (not being a Director or Chief Executive of the Company) had
interest or short position in shares or underlying shares and debentures of
Company and its associated corporation which would be required to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, were as
follow:

Name of substantial

shareholder capacity Nature of interest

TERROME BEID

EEtE

C Centrum Mote ) Beneficial owner

C Centrum (D EmEA
Ms. Leung Tak Yee Mote2 Interest of Spouse
RiB g+ W=D [ L e

Note 1:  The entire issued share capital of C Centrum is legally and beneficially owned by Mr. Chan

Yuk Pan. Accordingly, Mr. Chan Yuk Pan is deemed to be interested in the 300,000,000
Shares held by C Centrum by virtue of the SFO.

Note 2:  Ms. Leung Tak Yee is the spouse of Mr. Chan Yuk Pan and is deemed to be interested in all

the underlying Shares that Mr. Chan Yuk Pan is interested through C Centrum by virtue of
the SFO.

Note 3:  The letter “L" denotes “Long position” in such shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, no other person (other than
director or chief executive of the Company) had any interest or short position
in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed to the
Company , or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Percentage of interest

Total number of in our Company’s

share(s) held issued capital
RAERARE BT

Fris R B RAERNE 2
300,000,000 shares (L) 75%
300,000,000 A&7 (L) 75%
300,000,000 shares (L) 75%
300,000,000 A A7 (L) 75%

FEFET 0 CCentrum M2 HE BT ABMREW EEEER
BHMA - Bt REBEEHFRBEEG - REW T
A AR B FA C Centrum BT A 300,000,000 A% % 15
G -

MizE2: REBEZTAREWEENEG BEELFREE
1051 318 A R BRIE M S0 £ 38 18 C Centrum 3 A #E
AT A MR D A A R o

W3 T8 (L ERAEMRBHOITA -
BREXFEEEN RZZE_ZTF+_A

St—H . EERmAL(RAREFRES
THA BB SN RA R A SRR 15 b
o (T 88 25 I 55 1) 58 X B 58 2 3 6
BXARAR A B R AR B 5
1% 336 1R A T AR B A B S
SR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - =& — T F 3R 43



Report fthe Directors
ESEW

Purchase, Sales and Redemption of Shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates is or was interested
in any business apart from the Group’s business that competes or competed
or is or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group's
business at any time during the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the
date of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed, no other equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December 2020.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2020 are set out in
Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group are set out
in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements. The Directors consider
that those related party transactions did not fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules. The Group has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing

Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, no contract concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company was entered into or existed during the year ended
31 December 2020.
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Report of the Directors

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of revenue for the year attributable to the Group’s major

customers are as follows:

Sales HE
The largest customer BRARFE
Five largest customers combined AREFEE

e

EEERE

FEEFRMHAER
AEBNERESEEFNRENE A LT

Percentage

Bat

19%
64%

The percentage of purchases for the year attributable to the Group’s major
suppliers are as follows:

Purchases BB
The largest supplier A GLER
Five largest suppliers combined AR EEEE

AEENTIEHERRGFARBENA DL
LI

Percentage

BaL

24%
70%

None of the Directors, their associates or any other shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND
OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its suppliers, customers and stakeholders to meet its immediate and
long-term goals. During the year, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a director of the Company. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group throughout the year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the GEM Listing Rules, based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.
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INTEREST OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, LY Capital Limited ("LY
Capital’), neither LY Capital nor any of its directors or employees or close
associates had any interest in the share capital of the Company or any
member of the Group (including options or rights to subscribe for such
securities) or otherwise in relation to the Company which is required to be
notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules
(except for the compliance adviser agreement entered into between the
Company and LY Capital on 27 March 2019) as at the date of this annual
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are as set out in the corporate governance report in pages 47 to 64
of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the reporting period are set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoppers will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Yuk Pan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 22 March 2021
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (the “Reporting Period”). The Company wishes to
highlight the importance of the Board in ensuring effective leadership and
control of the Company, transparency and accountability of all aspects of
operations and that the business is conducted in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations.

The Company recognizes that good corporate governance is vital to the
success of the Group and to sustain the development of the Group. The
Company aims at complying with, where appropriate, all code provisions
("Code Provisions”) of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the principles
and the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code of the GEM Listing Rules.
Throughout the Reporting Period, the Company has complied, to the extent
applicable and permissible, with all Code Provisions set out in CG Code with
the exception of Code A.2.1 as explained under the paragraph “Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer” below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted a code regulating the securities transactions of
Directors and executive officers named in this annual report, on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealing as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).

Specific enquiry had been made to all Directors and relevant employees. They
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.

The Company has also established written guidelines regulating the
transactions of securities of the Company by senior management and
employees who are likely to be in possession of any inside information of the
Company.
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The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised as follows:

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board,
which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make decisions objectively in
the best interests of the Company.

The Board reserves its powers over decision of all major matters which include,
inter alia, the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgeting, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those which may involve conflict of interests of
substantial shareholder(s) or Director(s)), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters. The Board
has the full support from the executive Directors and the senior management
of the Company in discharging its responsibilities.

The Board has complied with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules to
have at least three independent non-executive Directors who represent more
than one-third of the Board with at least one of them who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise pursuant to Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board has received from each independent non-executive Director (the
“INED") a written annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules, and the nomination committee of the
Company (the "Nomination Committee”) has assessed the independence of
each INED. The Company is of the view that all INEDs fulfil the relevant
independence requirement throughout the Reporting Period. Each INED will
inform the Company in writing as soon as practicable if there is any change of
circumstances which may affect his/her independence.
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Corporate Governance Report

Composition
During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the
composition of the Board is as follows:

The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Chan Lung Pan

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam

Ms. Tam Ho Ting

The biographical information of the Directors and the relationship between
the members of the Board, if any, are provided in the “Directors and Senior
Management” section of this annual report. Save as disclosed in the section
"Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, the Directors have
no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships with
each other.

Appointment, Re-Election and Removal of Directors
The Company has established formal and transparent procedures for the
appointment and succession planning of Directors.

All Directors are appointed for specific tenures subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and subject to re-election at the
annual general meeting.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial term of three years, which shall be renewed as
determined by the Board or the Shareholders of the Company. The
appointment of each of the executive Directors may be terminated by either
party in accordance with the terms thereof and retirement and re-election
provisions in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.

Each of the INEDs has accepted an appointment with the Company for an
initial term of one year and shall be automatically renewed for another year.
The appointment of each of the INEDs may be terminated by either party
giving at least one month written notice to the other, subject to relevant
terms of their respective appointments and the Articles.
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Continuing Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors receive induction on the occasion of his/her
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under applicable laws, rules and regulations and the Group's
various governance and internal control policies. The Company also, at its
expense, arranges and provides suitable training, placing an appropriate
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The company
secretary of the Company is responsible for maintaining and updating records
for the Directors’ training sessions. Up to the date of this report, the Directors
have participated in continuous professional development by attending
courses or studying relevant materials on the topics related to corporate
governance and relevant updates of the rules and regulations.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage in respect of
legal action against the Directors and officers against loss or liability sustained
or incurred arising from or incidental to the execution of their duties. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis or on intervals as deemed
appropriate by the Board.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

According to code provision A.1.1 of the CG code, board meetings should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals with active
participation of a majority of the Directors, either in person or through
electronic means of communication.

During the year, four regular Board meetings were held at approximately
quarterly intervals for, among others, (i) reviewing and approving the financial
and operating performance, including the final results for the year ended 31
December 2019, quarterly results for the three months ended 31 March 2020,
interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2020 and results for the nine
months ended 30 September 2020, and (ii) considering, reviewing and/or
approving the overall strategies and policies of the Company.

All individual Directors have attended the four regular quarterly Board
meetings (not including other ad hoc Board meetings held from time to time
and any other meeting(s) of members of the Board in compliance with the CG
Code), committee meetings and general meeting during the year ended 31
December 2020. Attendance includes physical attendance and attendance by
telephone and by the video conference.

During the year, the Chairman also held a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors.
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Practices and Conduct of Board Meetings

A schedule of Board meetings dates is fixed for each year in advance. At least
7 days’ formal notice of all regular Board meetings is given to all Directors and
all Directors are given the opportunity to include matters for discussion in the
agenda. The agenda and Board papers for each meeting are sent to all
Directors at least 3 days in advance of every regular Board meeting.

The Company Secretary, as delegated by the Chairman, is responsible for
preparing the agendas of board meetings, taking into account any matters
the Directors may propose to include, ensuring that all Directors are given
opportunity to include matters in the agendas and approving the agendas. To
enable the Directors to make informed decisions, agendas and accompanying
papers, together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are
sent to all Directors or all committees members at least three days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors and committee
members appraised of the latest developments and/or financial position of
the Company. The Board and the individual Directors also have access to the
senior management to make further enquires or when they require further
information, in addition to those volunteered by the senior management.

The Company Secretary attended all regular Board meetings and, whenever
necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on statutory
compliance, corporate governance matters and to ensure that the Company’s
policies and procedures were properly followed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for preparing and keeping minutes of
all Board meetings and committee meetings. The minutes recorded sufficient
details of matters considered, decisions reached, concerns raised and
dissenting views expressed, if any. Draft and final versions of minutes are
circulated to the Directors for comment and records within a reasonable time
after each meeting. The final version is kept by the Company Secretary and
opened for the Directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction or matter which
involves conflicting interests of a substantial shareholder or a Director, are
dealt with by a duly convened physical Board meeting, at which independent
non-executive Directors having no material interest in the transaction should
be present. Any Director or any of their close associates having material
interests in the transaction or matter shall abstain from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at meetings for approving such transactions.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, for overseeing
specific aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each Board committee was
established with defined written terms of reference setting out its authorities
and duties and requiring the Board Committees to report back to the Board
on their decisions or recommendations (unless otherwise restricted by
applicable legal or regulatory requirements). To provide transparency, the
terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s and
the Stock Exchange's websites and hard copies of the same are available to
shareholders upon request.

Each Board committee consists of a majority of INEDs. Chairman and members
of each Board committee as at the date of this report are set out below:

Audit Committee

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan (Chairman)*
Ms. Tam Ho Ting*

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam*

Remuneration Committee
Ms. Tam Ho Ting (Chairman)*
Mr. Chan Lung Pan**

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam*

Nomination Committee
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman)**
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan*
Ms. Tam Ho Ting*

" Independent non-executive Director
= Executive Director

The Board committees have been provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company's expense.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. YP Chan currently holds both positions for the year ended 31
December 2020 and up to the date of this report. As Mr. YP Chan has been
responsible for the overall management of the Group, including strategic
planning as well as sales and business development, the Board considered
that Mr. YP Chan is the suitable candidate to continue to hold both positions.

Audit Committee

Our Company established an audit committee on 21 October 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM
Listing Rules and paragraphs C3.3 and C3.7 of the CG Code. The audit
committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors; namely Mr.
Adrian Chan, Ms. Tam and Ms. Tsang. Mr. Adrian Chan, who has appropriate
professional qualification and experience in accounting matters, was
appointed to serve as the chairman of the audit committee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include, among others, the
followings:

(@)  to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function, compliance officer
or external auditor before submission to the Board;

(b)  to review the Company’s relationship with the external auditor with
reference to the work it performed, its fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and, if appropriate, removal of external auditor;

(0 toreview the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, the Group's financial control, internal control and risk
management systems, including but not limited to adequacy of
resources available to its respective functions, staff qualifications and
experience and training programmes; and

(d)  to consider and identify risks of the Group and consider effectiveness of
the Group’s decision making processes in crisis and emergency
situations and approve major decisions affecting the Group's risk profile
or exposure.

The written terms of reference describing the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee was prepared and adopted with reference to the CG Code and “A
Guide for The Formation of An Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended 31 December
2020 to review quarterly, half-yearly and final financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal control and risk
management systems, effectiveness of internal audit function, the auditor’s
independence and objectivity. Full minutes of the meetings are duly kept by
the Company Secretary and draft and final versions of the same have been
sent to all committee members for comment and records, within reasonable
time afterwards in accordance with the relevant Code Provisions. The Audit
Committee also met with the Company's auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
twice during the year and recommended its re-appointment as the
Company's external auditor to the Board, which has taken no different view in
respect of the Audit Committee’s recommendation.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, there was no
material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that might cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
Company's annual results for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

Our Company established a nomination committee on 21 October 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5.2 of the CG Code.
The nomination committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors and one executive Director: Mr. Adrian Chan, Ms. Tam and Mr. YP
Chan. Mr. YP Chan was appointed the chairman of the nomination committee.
The primary functions of our nomination committee are (i) to review the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations to the
Board on any proposed changes to the Board to complement our Company’s
corporate strategy; (ii) to identify individuals suitably qualified as potential
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship; (iii) to assess the
independence of our independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of
Directors and succession planning of Directors, in particular our chairman and
the chief executive officer of the Company.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship based on a number of factors,
including expertise, skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal
integrity and time commitments of such individuals, business requirements of
the Group and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. External
recruitment agency may also be engaged to carry out the recruitment and
selection process when necessary.
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To facilitate sustainable and balanced development of the Company, the
Nomination Committee has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”), which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Under
the Diversity Policy, the appointment and/or recommendation for
appointment will be based on objective criteria, having due regard to the
benefits of diversity of the Board, including, among others, the candidates’
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will consider to
set measurable objectives to implement the Diversity Policy and review such
objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriations and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving these objectives. Decisions of the
Nomination Committee are based on the merits and contribution of the
selected candidates. As at the date of this report, the Board characterised by
significant diversity, regardless in terms of age, gender, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The Nomination Committee has also
adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) which sets out the
selection criteria and procedure of appointing and re-appointing a Director.
The selection criteria used in assessing the suitability of a candidate include,
inter alia, his/her academic background and professional qualifications,
relevant experience in the industry, character and integrity and whether he/
she can contribute to the diversity of the Board as detailed in the Diversity
Policy. The procedure of appointing and re-appointing a Director is
summarised as follows:

— nomination and invitation of suitable candidates by any member of the
Nomination Committee or the Board;

—  evaluation of the candidate by the Board based on all selection criteria
set out in the Nomination Policy;

—  performing due diligence in respect of each candidate and making
recommendation for the Board's consideration and approval;

— in case of nomination of an independent non-executive Director,
assessing the candidate’s independence under the relevant Code
Provisions and the Listing Rules;

—  where nominating an independent non-executive Director for election
at general meetings, having due consideration of matters under Code
Provision A5.5;

/\\|/ /\—h—\

TEERRS

RIRERNRBRFE HENER BEZ
RMEESZTEBRR(STBE]) -
%ﬁiﬂ?%%ﬁ%%@ﬁi%%TﬂtﬁﬂﬁéHXZEﬁ °
REBEZTEBR  BERERZBEE TNER
ST HEESNREETEER RIEBE
£ EREEREREAMR - Fik - ERHE
Bx Bk EELR K ABREREE

E\E

B o ﬁ%’é#w%%%ﬂmﬂﬁ%ﬁh NETZ
TEBR - U TREHZERR  BRESE

BERETEKRZFAFHEE - ZRREEW
RETDENREANEHRER - RAREH
H EFGUFRTZTAR THFK

A BXLR RERAE - REREEND
PR AR —Iﬁh%ﬂl R(MRBHE]) - EH5IEH
RERBHZEESCIELERIERER -

AU EREANSEENRFE(LER)HE
EESREEENR HATEEBRILER - @1
RBERERTRRENSZ T BRIl AESS
ZLEL ER - FZEAREFEZTEEHE
Feifatian ™ «

E

HiRZZEeEe K EIRER
BREESREA
— HESSRBERAREMEMBETEE
BIFTERE A

— ¥YHEBRAETERESEUIELHEEBRE
EUREESERRIE

—  IREBBUIFNITES - AIREAERE TR
{3 Ko AR AIFHARIE ARV B

— MWRBRERARGLREBBIFFATERE
iR ﬁ'METF—rﬁ'JﬂxK%ASSﬂM’EHﬁ%IE

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - —E - FF R 55



Corporate Governance Report

LIRSS =+
TEERAME

— in the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors, reviewing the
candidate’s overall contribution and performance and making
recommendations to the Board and/or the shareholders for
consideration in connection with his/her re-election at general
meetings; and

— convening a meeting of the Board to consider the appointment or re-
appointment of the candidate as a Director.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2020 to, amongst others, (i) review the structure, size, diversity and
composition of the Board; (i) assess the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and (i) review and recommend the continuing
adoption of the Diversity Policy.

Remuneration Committee

Our Company established a remuneration committee on 21 October 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.34 to 5.36 of the
GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B.1.2 of the CG Code. The remuneration
committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors and one
executive Director: Mr. LP Chan, Ms. Tam and Ms. Tsang. Ms. Tam was
appointed chairman of the remuneration committee. The primary functions of
our remuneration committee are to make recommendations to the Board on
the overall remuneration policy and the structure relating to all Directors and
senior management of our Group, review performance based remuneration
and ensure none of our Directors is in a position to determine his own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets to review the remuneration
policy and structure and determine the annual remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management and other related matters. The human
resources department is responsible for collection and administration of the
human resources data and proposing the remuneration structure and
remuneration packages of the individual executive Director and senior
management to the Remuneration Committee for consideration. The
Remuneration Committee shall consider and consult the Chairman and/or the
Board about these proposals.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2020 to review and recommend the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management, to establish a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy for the remuneration of the Directors, assess
the performance of the executive Directors and approve the terms of their
respective service contracts.

56 BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - 7Bt 22 &= B2 i 5 BR A &)

— WEHEREREES  ARAREANE
BERMERAIRERNBERASETE
BMEEE R HRRIEH BB AR
R &

— AHEFSIUZBZEXRENZMER

REE-Z-_TF+_A=+—HILFE ' &
ZEREBGHRITRGHE  A(HPERE) RS
ExefE  AE - 2T RARK () FHEE
MIERTEENBILM - K iR MEEES
RMZ TR

FMEEE
ARBIRZE—NFTAZ+—HBRIZFHE
Bg - WHEMBGIM EMRAIZES34E 536K K%
TEERTHERI2ERE T SEmBESRE -
FEEedMUB Y IFRITEER —RATT
BEREWLAE BT RELTEK B
ZIEZITAFHNEESERE FHEZEEW
TERER  MEBTHBRNASEREE
EREAEEENREBRMHER BHERE
BHEMEH - UEBRESTESEETEAAN
N o

FHNEZE e —RUEHFINRR R EEANE
TEENERERABFEFMFBEA A
MEBBRTER - ANBERBABBERERE
BANEREE U FMEBEERINITE
ELEREBABNFHEBRTMEESE
s WHEERE - FHEE AR %FR
BELERREALER SEES -

REE_ZT-_TF+-_A=+—HLEE
MEEGRT-—REE  URHEZLERE
EEMNHMFBILRE L EE sl EESH M
BRI ERMABARNEF M ERTE
ERARMAERS B RBA DK -



Corporate Governance Report

The remuneration payable to the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

A8 Bl

Remuneration bands

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000
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Number of
individuals

AE

500,001 7 7L E 1,000,000 7 7T 1

Further particulars relating to Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 15 to the Listing
Rules are set out in Note 10 and Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties and
determining the relevant policies of the Company, which includes formulating
and reviewing the Group's policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and the senior management, reviewing and
monitoring the Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, formulating, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct, guidelines and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors, and reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosures in this Corporate Governance Report. The Board reviewed and
discussed the corporate governance policy of the Company and was satisfied
the effectiveness of its corporate governance policy.
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board and the Directors

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements
and complying with other financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Auditor’s Statement

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in pages 101 to 108.

Senior Management

The senior management has provided the Board with sufficient explanation
and necessary information to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of financial and other information tabled before the Board for
approval.

Monthly updates have also been provided by the senior management to all
members of the Board to enable proper discharge of duties by the Board as a
whole as well as each member individually by giving them balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company's performance, position and
prospects in sufficient detail.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for the establishment, maintenance
and review of the Group’s internal control system to safeguard shareholders’
investments and the assets of the Group. The internal control system of the
Group aims to facilitate effective and efficient operation which in turn
minimizes the risks to which the Group is exposed. The system can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatements or
losses.

Risk Management

The Group recognises that good risk management is essential for the long-
term development on the Group’s business. Management is responsible for
establishing, implementing, reviewing and evaluating a sound and effective
internal control system underpinning the risk management framework. All
employees of the Group are committed to implement the risk management
framework into the daily operation. The system comprises the following
phases:

— Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks
that could affect the achievement of objectives.

—  Analysis: Analyze the existing control, likelihood and consequence of
risks and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

— Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has identified the following risks and
implemented relevant risk mitigation plans, details of which are set out as
follows:

—  The sales and profitability of the Group's products are dependent on its
customers’ business performance. The Group's five largest customers
accounted for an aggregate of 64% and 75% of its revenue for the two
years ended 2020 and 2019, respectively, and if there is any decrease in
its business or if the Group fails to maintain its relationship with them or
any of them or other key customers, this could adversely affect its
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. To
diversify the business risk, the Group has been active in seeking new
markets and clients since 2020.
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—  The Group's profitability may be adversely affected by the fluctuations
of raw material prices. The raw materials the Group uses in the
manufacturing process are primarily forged rings, steel balls and
spacers, of which forged rings accounted for most of the Group's total
purchases. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total purchases
of forged rings accounted for approximately 27% of the total purchases
of raw materials for the year. The Group'’s forged rings are primarily
made from gear steel and carbon round steel. Nearly all of the Group's
raw materials are sourced from suppliers based in the PRC. There are
many factors which can cause fluctuation in the price of raw materials
from time to time, in particular the economic conditions in the PRC,
supply and demand of raw materials and international trade. To diversify
the business risk, the Group has been taking some proactive approaches
to unexpected change in raw material prices such as understanding the
actual production capacity and the historical record of price change.

Internal Control

The Group does not have an internal audit function as the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Company and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an internal
audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of
the Group's business. The situation will be reviewed from time to time. The
Group has engaged an external consulting firm, Infinity Concept Ripple
Limited (the “Internal Control Adviser”), as the Group's internal control
adviser to conduct independent internal control review for the Year.

Such review is conducted annually and cycles reviewed are under a rotation
basis. The scope of review was previously determined and approved by the
Board. The Internal Control Adviser has reported findings and areas for
improvement to the Audit Committee and management. The Board and Audit
Committee were of the view that there was no material deficiency in the
internal control system . All recommendations from the Internal Control
Adviser are properly followed by the Group to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Board therefore
considered that the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.
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Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and maintained procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of insider information. The
Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in the securities of the
Company by the directors in accordance with Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. Any
inside information and any information which may potentially constitute
inside information is promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board
and for the Board to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and
other information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules will be announced on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company in respect of
the Group’s annual audit services and audit services for the subsidiaries of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to HK$950,000,
and those in relation to non-audit service was HK$50,000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Mr. Chan Ho Chee Gilbert, who is an employee
of the Company, as its Company Secretary. He is a member of CPA Australia.
He confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for the year ended 31 December 2020. The biography of Mr. Chan Ho
Chee Gilbert is set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this report.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interest and rights, separate
resolutions on each and every substantial issue can be considered and
proposed to be passed by shareholders at the shareholders’ meetings
including the election of individual directors. All resolutions put forward at a
shareholders” meeting will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules
and the poll voting results will be posted on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the Company’s website after the relevant shareholders’

meeting.

(a)

(b)

(c)

62

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”)

Shareholder(s) holding, as at the date of deposit of the requisition for a
EGM of not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right to vote at general meetings of the Company may, by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, require the
Directors to call an EGM for the transaction of businesses specified in
the requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such EGM, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at General
Meetings

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at
the general meetings under the Companies Law (Revised) of the
Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles of association,
shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution may
convene an EGM in accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders
to convene an EGM” set out above.

Procedures for shareholders to send enquires to the board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board and/
or the Company Secretary by addressing them to the principle place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 1226B, 12/F, Star House,
No. 3 Salisbury Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong by post for the attention of
the Board and/or the Company Secretary.
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Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company has adopted a shareholder communication policy with
the objective of providing the shareholders of the Company with
information about the Company and enabling them to engage actively
with the Company and exercise their rights as shareholders in an
informed manner.

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, and investors. These include
answering questions through the AGM, the publication of annual,
interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements and circulars, the
Company's website at www.blg.hk and meetings with investors and
shareholders. News updates of the Group’s business are also available
on the Company’s website.

Share registration matters shall be handled by the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54,
Hopewell Center, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the amended CG Code, the Company should have a dividend
policy and disclose such policy in its annual report. The Company has adopted

a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”), the summary of which is set out

below:

(@)

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

the Group's financial conditions;

the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

the Group’s cash flow, working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

the Group's retained earnings and distributable reserves;

the Group's liquidity position;

general economic conditions, future prospects of the Group and
other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the

business or financial performance and position of the Group; and

other factors that the Board may consider appropriate.
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(b)  The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the
Articles of Association of the Company.

() The Board endeavours to strike a balance between the Shareholders’
interests and prudent capital management with a sustainable Dividend
Policy.

Constitutional Documents
There has been no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during
the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

On behalf of the Board

CHAN Yuk Pan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 22 March 2021
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DEFINITION AND INTERPRETATION

Throughout this report, the following terms, except where the context
otherwise requires, have the following meanings:

66

Group

ESG

Appendix 20 or ESG :

Reporting Guide

GEM

Hong Kong

PRC

KPIs

Listing Rules

Stock Exchange

refers to Best Linking Group Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries

Environmental, social and governance

refers to the Appendix 20 — Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide of
the Listing Rules

GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

The Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China,
including Hong Kong Island, Kowloon and
the New Territories

The People’s Republic of China

Key Performance Indicators

The Rules Governing the Listing of Equity
Securities on the GEM of the Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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OVERVIEW

n

()

Purpose

Best Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with
its subsidiaries (referred to as the “Group”), successfully listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEx") on 15
November 2019. In accordance with the requirements of HKEx, listed
companies are required to provide an Environmental, Social and
Governance Report ("ESG Report”). This is the second ESG Report since
the listing which mainly introduces the Group's vision, policies and
measures by establishing the key performance indicators ("KPIs"), and
reports its performance regarding environmental and social issues for
internal assessment and management control, and communicating to
the internal and external stakeholders.

Scope of Report

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacturing of slewing rings,
which are rotational-rolling element bearing used in large sized
machinery and equipment, such as construction machinery and
equipment, wind turbines, robotics and military equipment. We
produce our products on an Original Design Manufacturer (“ODM"),
Original Equipment Manufacturer (“OEM") and Original Brand
Manufacturer (“OBM") basis from our manufacturing facility in
Dongguan, the PRC and we are compliant with the Japanese Industrial
Standards and I1SO 9001:2015 quality standards. The products are sold
both in the PRC and overseas to general wholesalers and distributors
and to leading overseas — mostly Japanese and local equipment
manufacturers. This ESG report covers the operations and activities of
our Dongguan factory and the Hong Kong administrative office.

(1)
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Basis of Preparation

This is our second ESG Report since our listing on the GEM of the HKEx
and is in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide (the "ESG
Reporting Guide’) outlined in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
and Guidance Governing the Listing of Securities on HKEx. The content
of this report includes two main subject areas, as outlined and required
by the ESG Reporting Guide, namely Area A — Environmental and Area
B — Social and further includes the disclosure of climate-change related
issues, which have or may impact our Group.

This ESG Report, which has been reviewed and approved by the board
of the Company (the “Board”), both reviews and reports the core
business operations and activities of the Group and follows the
principles of materiality, quantification, balance and consistency to
disclose relevant statistics and information.

Reporting Period
This report is for the period from
(the “2020 Reporting Period").

1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020

Corporate Goals and Visions

The Group's vision is to be a leading manufacturer on a sustainable
basis of high-quality slewing rings in both the PRC and worldwide. We
are committed to providing these products with a reasonable return on
investments to our shareholders, whilst being a socially and
environmentally responsible company and providing a safe, healthy
and pleasant working environment to our employees.
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(VI) ESG Management

Our ESG strategies, management policy and approach are based on
compliance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the
principle of sustainability and opinions from our key stakeholders. The
Group's visions and goals, and the ESG management policy and
approach can be summarized in the following statements.

1. The Group is committed to be successful in undertaking its
business, whilst providing strong returns to our investors and
supporters, a healthy and safe working environment to our
employees and helping to provide sustainable developments for
the local communities and the Group.

2. The Board from time to time approves and updates strategies
and policies which are incorporated with the related
environmental and social issues stated in the ESG Reporting
Guide. The Board has assigned each department to implement
ESG policies in accordance with the respective operations and
activities. Through their normal and routine channels, all
departments report directly to the Group's Chief Executive Officer
("CEO"), who has the overall responsibility to ensure that the
Board's approved strategies and policies are implemented. The
departments are responsible for exploring and developing KPIs,
where appropriate and necessary, in accordance with the Group's
policies and goals.

3. It is the duty of the Group’s CEO, Chief Operating Officer (“COO")
and the Management Team to examine and address all the
environmental and social issues detailed in the aspects and areas
in the ESG Reporting Guide.

Overall, the Group takes an active role in ensuring sustainable and
environmentally friendly production and operations by employing
various measures, which are compliant with relevant laws, operating
practices and standards. The Group continues to uphold our established
environmental protection and management system. The adoption and
application of the Quality Management System (ISO 9001:2015), which
the Group has certified since 2008, has proven to be effective in ESG
management.
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STAKEHOLDERS COMMUNICATION AND
MATERIALITY

The Group maintains regular contact with the internal and external
stakeholders to gauge their views and opinions regarding the Group's
operations and performance. After collecting the views and opinions, the CEO
and/or COO will carry out materiality assessments internally with the related
managers and externally with related stakeholders through various means of
communication, such as liaison groups, panel discussions, workshops, on-site
visits, company websites, emails and direct enquiry phones, etc. For 2019, the
Group and the stakeholders have identified the following material areas and
aspects:

Environmental practices and their performance;
Commitments to employees;

Recruiting, engaging and retaining talents;
Commitments to customers;

Building trusts through quality and reliability of services and products
customers;

Protecting customers privacy;
Anti-corruption prevention; and

Community support and contribution.
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Through the Group's established management structure, process, policies and
guidelines as aforementioned and described, the above ESG material areas
and aspects have been strictly managed and monitored and herein are
summarized below:

A. ENVIRONMENTAL AREAS AND ASPECTS
1.1 Environmental Areas Overview
As the Group understands it obligations, we have implemented a
company-wide “Environmental Protection and Sustainability
Policy and Procedures” which aims to achieve a balance between
undertaking business, maximize returns to our shareholders,
ensuring our operations and activities minimise any adverse
impacts on the environment, and being energy, water and
resource usage efficient.

Our "Environmental Protection and Sustainability Policy and
Procedures” is summarised below:

Purpose

To establish and maintain policies and procedures to identify,
evaluate and determine the significance of environmental
aspects and impacts by and on the company and ensuring
compliance with all relevant national and local environmental
laws and regulations including but not limited to:

Environmental Protection Law of the PRC (R A R I H0
BIIRIBIREE),

Law of the PRC on Environmental Impact Assessment (
ZEARKEMBIRBZETNEE);

Water Pollution and Control Law of the PRC (FRFE A R 3
MEIK52 n@f/l:l/f

i

Atmospheric Pollution and Control Law of the PRC (AP
AR LB AR RTEDEE);

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Pollution
from Environmental Noise (FFZE A R AR IE R &S
AB7587%);

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste (R & A R F1E
[E BB RE )5 RIRIRITAE);
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Regulations on the Administration of Construction Project
Environmental Protection (323%78 B IRIFIREE IR 1KH]);
and

Cleaner Production Promotion Law of the PRC (F EE AR
HMBEREEREE)

Procedure

0]

(if)

(iif)

The Management Team shall identify and evaluate the
environmental aspects for all work activities that are most
likely to give rise to significant environmental impacts.

The Management Team shall brainstorm internally and
externally with other related parties and classify all the

relevant work activities under normal, unusual and
emergency situation as follows:

Normal is defined as a routine activity or work that is
carried out daily and is part of a process;

Unusual refers to non-routine work that occurs

under unexpected circumstances; and

Emergency refers to an occurrence of an event that

will cause a drastic impact or severity to the

environment and immediate action has to be taken.

For example: major leakage and spillage, fire, etc.
When identifying the environmental aspects, all activities
likely to cause environmental impact or improve general
sustainability are considered including but not limited to
the following:

Gas emissions;

Water discharge;

Waste disposal;

Land contamination;

Sustainability and the efficient use of raw materials,

energy, water and other natural resources;

Other local environmental issues; and

National and local laws and regulations.
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1.2

(iv) At least once every year, the Management Team shall
review the environmental aspects. They shall also update
regularly based on new laws and regulations,
organizational work activities and processes or production
systems or equipment, and also based on updated
knowledge obtained through incidents/accidents,
organizational or other requirements.

(v)  For each environmental aspect, the Management Team
shall identify and assess the environmental impacts, and
the following shall be considered:

Global warming;

Water pollution;

Air pollution;

Waste generation;

Land/soil contamination;
Noise pollution; and

Depletion of natural resources.

Environmental Aspects

The Group advocates the importance of sustainable development
in relation to our on-ongoing business operations and activities.
We have employed various measures to ensure full compliance
with all relevant rules and regulations regarding emissions,
effluent water and solid waste discharge and to ensure minimal
impact to the environment. All of our employees are made aware
of their respective roles and responsibilities in conserving energy
and natural resources and we regularly assess new production
equipment and processes and maintain compliance with Quality
Management Systems such as ISO 9000:2015, to reduce pollution
and improve sustainability.

During the 2020 Reporting Period, the Group was not subject to
any confirmed cases for breaching environmental legislation in
relation to emissions and waste discharge or other environmental
issues that could have an adverse impact on the local
environment.

1.2
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A1:

Emissions and Wastes
Indirect Emissions — Greenhouse Gas ("GHG")

Indirect emission, mainly carbon dioxide (“C0O,") through
the use of electricity for our production, remains to be the
main source of greenhouse gas emissions.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, electricity
consumption by our manufacturing facilities (and
accompanying offices and dormitory) amounted to
685,007 kWh. Based on this, the Group’s operations and
activities generated a total of 476.70 tonnes or about 6.36
tonnes per worker per annum of CO, from the use of
electricity. Compared to the previous reporting period from
1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 ("2019 Reporting
Period"), the usage of electricity and the emission of CO,
decreased by 39.37% and 57.68% respectively, much of
which owed to the lockdown imposed by the China
Government to curb the widespread pandemic of the
Coronavirus Disease (“COVID-19").

Nevertheless, to reduce indirect GHG emissions, we have
formulated a Climate Change Strategy that will continue to
improve our energy saving practices including strictly
controlling the electricity consumption of our production
facility and to invest in new production equipment and
processes. We target to lower the indirect GHG emission
per employee per year within 5% through the reduction of
electricity consumption per employee.
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Direct emissions

During the 2020 Reporting Period, we directly produced
non-hazardous GHG of CO, and hazardous sulphur oxides
("S0Oy"), nitrogen oxides ("NOy") gas, and particulate matters
("PM"), from the uses of fossil fuels including diesel fuel and
liquefied petroleum gas for forklift cars, machine tool
cooling and welding which are stated as follows:

(i) Sulphur oxides (SO,) — 0.15 kg

(i) Nitrogen oxides (NO,) — 103.50 kg

(i)~ Particulate Matter (PM) — 10.26 kg

(iv)  Carbon dioxide (CO,) — 24,125.02 kg (24.13 tonnes)

Since we have sub-contracted all of our logistical needs to
external transport operators and have increased the
utilization of electric driven production equipment, the
uses of fossil fuels and its resultant direct hazardous gas
emissions have decreased significantly. We have been
reviewing and planning a gradual reduction of fossil fuels
in order to reduce hazardous gas emissions by substituting
electricity or other forms of sustainable energy. For the
coming year, we target to reduce direct emissions
especially those hazardous SOy, NOy, and PM by at least
10%.

Water Pollution and Discharge

Cooling water used in our production process is the main
source of the Group's wastewater. We have adopted a
closed circulating water recycling system, so most of the
cooling water will be reused with minimal wastage.
However, under PRC laws and regulations, all excess
wastewater generation during our production process is
required to be handled by a licensed wastewater treatment
and disposal specialist. Water is also used for general living
purposes in employees’ dormitories, canteens and offices,
and will be discharged through the public sewage system.
The Group therefore does not hold any polluted water
discharge data.
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Noise Pollution Emission

The Group does not generate any noise pollution to the
surrounding neighbors as our business operations and
activities are conducted inside our factory and offices, with
a tailor-made building structure. Within our factory
operation, in certain parts of the operation, noise is
generated, but the extent is far below national and industry
standard limits. To be cautious and to protect our workers,
it is compulsory that protective equipment is worn at all
times during production activities.

Light Emission
Our business operations and activities do not generate any
light pollution.

Hazardous and Non-Hazardous Wastes

The Group has developed a natural and pollution-free
philosophy in its business where possible and has adopted
the 3-R principle — to reduce, reuse and recycle. All
employees are constantly reminded to adopt the 3-R
principle in their handling and use of resources.
Consideration is given to recycle and reuse in the various
processes and stages of production. Procedures are in
place for properly sorting out and storing the unused
materials for resale or reuse. For example, in respect of the
scrap metal produced from our production process, firstly,
through new and improved production processes, we
reduced the amount of scrap material produced, and
secondly, scraps are not wasted and are recycled by being
sold to approved scrap metal recyclers on a regular basis.

The amount of hazardous wastes generated from our
manufacturing operations is insignificant and poses no
material impact to the environment.
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Non-hazardous wastes are generated from both
production operations and non-production operations.
Non-hazardous wastes generated from the production
processes are mainly packaging materials —namely affixed
labels, plastic film and kraft paper. An insignificant amount
of non-hazardous materials is also generated from non-
production areas, such as supporting offices, dormitories
and canteens. All such wastes are collected and disposed
of by external waste collectors.

Mitigation Measures and Reduction Initiatives

As analyzed above, the Group does not generate much
hazardous and non-hazardous emissions and discharges.
However, as a responsible corporation, we are conscious of
the effects our operations and activities may have on the
environment and constantly work on maximizing energy
efficiency and minimizing emissions, wastes generation,
disposal and discharges. We fully comply with all applicable
environmental laws, rules and regulations and industrial
standards in the markets we operate in. We comply with
Quality Management Systems such as ISO 9000:2015, to
reduce pollution and improve sustainability.

To combat global warming and to reduce the generation
of GHG emissions and pollutants, we target to reduce our
electricity consumption, and have introduced measures to
achieve it. For example, we have instructed our staff and
workers to turn off electricity when our factory and office
equipment are not in use, to use natural ventilation to
replace air-conditioning in allowable conditions, and not to
set all air-conditioners’ temperature setting to lower than
25°C under normal conditions. The Group has also invested
in energy saving tools and equipment such as energy-
saving copiers and computers installed LED lights,
encouraged employees to use teleconferencing to reduce
their travels and to use public transport whenever possible.

During the 2020 Reporting Period, same as the 2019
Reporting Period, the Group did not have any violation
related to hazardous or non-hazardous air emissions and
wastes disposal, polluted water discharges and we are
determined to take all necessary measures to achieve the
same results for the coming years.
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Use of Resources

As an industrial operation, we consume electricity, water,
printing paper and ink, packaging materials, and steel. We
promote the company-wide goal to saving resources and
have implemented various measures to improve our
resource saving performance, to minimize the impact to
the environment and achieve operational optimization
while complying with the relevant national and local laws
and regulations. We have approved and implemented clear
environmental policies and measures with the target to
have an efficient use of resources for production facilities
and processes, office administration, and the general use of
our employees without causing pollution whilst saving
resources. Our use of electricity, fossil fuels, water, printing
papers and steel for 2020 were recorded as per below:

(i) Electricity & Fuel Consumption

Electricity is the only source of energy for our
industrial production and our offices and dormitories
operations and activities and is supplied by the local
electricity grid. In 2020, our factory, offices and
dormitories together consumed 685,007 kWh or
9,133 kWh per worker per year. As aforementioned,
compared to the 2019 Reporting Period, the usage
of electricity fell by 39.37% due to the lockdown that
occurred during 2020.

The result showed that the overall electricity
consumption was 42.92% below 2020 target of
1,200,000 kWh. For the coming year, the Group
targets 1,000,000 kWh consumption.
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The Group recognises that investing in energy
efficiency initiatives helps us to minimise our
environmental impacts while also reducing costs.
Our production facilities and accompanying
dormitories are powered by a consistent and
sufficient supply of electricity, which is supplied by
the local electricity grid. To save energy, which also
saves costs, we have installed energy saving LED
lights and control meters and invested in the latest
energy efficient production equipment and
processes. The Group has promulgated rules and
encouraged staff and workers to use resources
efficiently and environmentally friendly including:

Lights and equipment must be turned off if
not in use;

Maintaining work environments at pre-
determined and energy efficient temperatures;
and

Encouraging the use of natural ventilation
instead of air-conditioning whenever the
conditions allow.

For 2020, the Group also used fossil fuels, namely 88
cubic meters (‘'m*’) of gas and 7.26 tonnes of diesel,
mainly for forklifts, machine tools cooling and
welding. For the coming years, we have already
planned to gradually replace fossil fuels by electricity
or other forms of sustainable energy in order to
reduce the generation of hazardous gases emissions
as explained previously.
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(ii)

Fresh Water Consumption and Sourcing

For water, the main consumption comes from the
production process in cooling hot metal. Water is
also used in the employee’ dormitory for their
personal use. Our factory, offices and dormitories all
use fresh water supplied from the cities’ central
water supply network and we do not have any
problem on sourcing of our water needs.

At all times we request the staff and workers to use
fresh water smartly and be responsible, as it is one of
the most precious natural resources. We utilize
internal water recycling systems where possible and
we monitor water usage patterns constantly via the
use of smart meters and our own inspection teams
who have been assigned to ensure there is no
unwarranted uses and waste.

For 2020, it consumed a total of 4,880 m* or 65.95 m?
per worker per year of fresh water for industrial
production and offices and dormitories daily usage
purposes. Compared to the 2019 Reporting Period,
the Group recorded a decrease of approximately
33.33% due to the outbreak of COVID-19. The result
was 35.79% better than our 2020 target of 7,600 m>.
For the coming year, we will continue to mobilize
our staff and workers to save fresh water
consumption, nevertheless continue to expand our
operations, and target a water consumption of 6,000
nes
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Paper and Packaging Materials and Other Raw
Materials Consumption

We consider our use of packaging materials, namely
affixed labels, plastic film and kraft paper, to be a
material item and have established a KPIs to measure
and monitor this.

During the 2020 Reporting Period, we used a total of
128 kg of packaging materials. Compared to the
2019 Reporting Period, the Group recorded a
decrease of approximately 95.45% owing to the
outbreak of COVID-19. The amount of packaging
material used is largely dictated by our sales volume
and so we are unable to target any serious reduction
in packaging materials. We will continue to monitor
our usage and look at ways to introduce more
sustainable and environmentally friending materials
where possible.

We consider our office paper use immaterial,
however, to save paper consumption, we have
implemented or in the process of implementing the
following measures in our offices:

Avoid unnecessary printing and print on both
sides;

Use recycled papers and reuse paper-made
products such as envelopes and folders;

Replace the use of papers by sharing and
storing information and documents in
electronic formats; and

Adopt a company-wide cloud based working
environment including ERP system to reduce
the need for printed documentation.
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A3:

As explained before, during our production process,
we use a lot of steel metal, and generate metal
scraps. The use of steel is in direct proportion to our
business turnover. The generation of metal scrap can
be reduced through new and improved production
processes and we have continuously monitored and
implemented these in trying to achieve such
reductions. At the same time, we do not waste any
scrap metal as they are stored in a designed place in
the factory and then sold to approved scrap metal
recyclers.

Environment and Natural Resources

The Group’s business operations and activities do not
create significant environmental impact and hazards. As a
responsible corporation, we have implemented our
environmental protection policy and have complied with
all national and local environmental laws, rules and
regulations, and industry standards. We are committed to
conserving resources in order to reduce its impact on the
environment as well as saving operational costs. We
cooperate with the local government agencies and
support environmental organizations’ activities to build a
“green” society. The Group has also implemented green
purchasing practices and best practice technologies to
conserve natural resources where applicable.

During the 2020 Reporting Period, fresh water, fossil fuels,
electricity and paper-based packaging materials for normal
production operation were the key elements which were
considered to have an impact on the environment. We
have continued to support all measures to reduce, reuse,
recycle, and replace as far as possible and practicable as
laid down in our Environmental Policy and Measures. The
Group did not receive any warning or complaint notice
from any governmental environmental agencies, clients or
business partners for the violation of any environmental
rules and regulations, the act of polluting the environment
or causing any environmental troubles. For the coming
year, we will continue to achieve zero complaints and no
pollution occurrences, and to explore new avenues and
means to accomplish our goals of conserving natural
resources and protecting the environment.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - 7Bt 22 &= B2 i 5 BR A &)

A3

A _E SR - AR
EERFHERAEN
MYELRESE -
FRESEERBEKIEL -
BEeBLEEERELN
REOHEERFRD -
BAFEERYEEE
BRRRF  BltEslE
P AR B R L o B2t A
- BB
FREESMI RN HEE
BETRAUETEEK
B R PIRARE
EREMRE -

REREAEBR

AREBEXRBLERRDALRE
RIREKEEFYENAE - B
MIERABEELCXEEHRIRE
REHK - BETER LR
RFTBRAR - EZBI RRTE
ARITRIZE - BB NEH
R BRERERRZE 2B
BN 2B - AR TR
JIHEEIE - W IFRFAR
HEE - MR &e
€ - ARENCERSERE
B P R BB - FAIAE

BHBRER -

i
e

—ToTFEREHPA - EFE
EEARFr AT RAOK ~ fe kst
ENRERBEDHRBAR RS
REBRFENERRE -
AREERT - RAIEARERY)
BRITTER THESIEMAR
EAEBEREBERLIERSE
BB AR - BEER - B
ERRERERER A5&H
REREREAREEDI SR
T OSRBRBIT REEKEA
BRI R M 2 (AT R AT &Y
RIGHE - EPEBINHE
HEEESSRIREFARA © ]
PIRRRFRETRFRTF
AR FCER - WRRHTRTE
RITENEBEBHBRER R
RERFENE R



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Zi == &Hr \Afli& =

A4:

=

Climate Change

The Group understands that stakeholders expect us to be
managing and mitigating climate change risks in line with
local and global commitments and recommendations. We
recognise that the impacts of climate change are varied
and long-ranging and the risks identified could prevent us
from meeting our strategic objectives and could result in
adverse operational, compliance and financial impacts.
Thus, climate change risks are considered by our Board to
be material risks and oversight is given to the Audit and
Risk Committee who is developing an overarching Climate
Change Strategy to reduce greenhouse gas emissions with
policies and procedures to manage such potential risks
including:

Potential disruption to our operations due to
extreme weather events and changing weather
patterns;

Changing customer behaviours and requirements as
demand moves to other new machinery and
equipment such as wind turbines;

Changes in cost and availability of raw materials
(carbon neutral steel etc) and utilities such as
renewable electricity, water and gas and relevant
costs of securing and maintaining sufficient supply;

Changes to government policy, law and regulation
(including pricing carbon, renewable electricity
pricing etc), which could result in increased
operational costs and potential for litigation; and

Failure to meet expectations of stakeholders.
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Climate change is mainly caused by the release of CO, into
the atmosphere, which is directly and indirectly the result
of the use of fossil fuels for electricity generation and fuels
for transportation. As the world transitions to a lower-
carbon sustainable economy, there are inevitable areas
that our Group can contribute to this. After discussions
with our stakeholders, we have identified energy, water
and logistics as immediate areas that we can tackle to both
combat climate change and reduce potential costs in the
future.

Energy

During the 2020 Reporting Period, the Group generated
direct and indirect greenhouse gas — CO, emissions,
through the uses of fossil fuels electricity. As explained
previously, we have implemented policies and procedures
to reduce the use of fossil fuels as well as electricity across
our organization and we will continue to invest in new
more energy efficient manufacturing equipment and
processes in the near future. We are currently investigating
the cost-benefit of partial self-generation of renewable
energy via solar panel installation etc.

Water

Water is used both in our production process and by our
employees in their dormitories. The Group has taken
measures to encourage employees to more efficiently use
water in order to reduce its consumption. We already utilise
recycled water treatment systems in our production
facilities so as to minimise water wastage.

Logistics

In line with our Climate Change Strategy, the carbon
footprint and sustainability of suppliers is an important
consideration and we are actively seeking logistics partners
that utilize electric vehicles or close equivalents to minimize
their own carbon footprint where possible.

For the 2020 Reporting Period, the Group’s business
operations and activities, except for the above three
aspects, did not lead to any events or issues that might
impact the climate or result in the change of the climate
significantly. The Group also has already taken measures to
lower indirect CO, emissions and fresh water consumption
for the coming year.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

1.1

1.2

Social Areas Overview

The Group acts in an honest and transparent principle and aims
to support the building of a harmonious society and a mutually
beneficial relationship with our stakeholders including
employees, customers, suppliers, professional services providers,
local communities as well as the governing authorities. During
the formulation and implementation of our ESG strategies,
policies, rules and regulations, we incorporate our long and short-
term goals with consideration for our stakeholders and society.
We believe that our modest acts will ultimately benefit the
stakeholders and general society.

Employment and Labour Practices Aspects

B1: Employment
The Group strives to create a workplace which makes each
employee feel valued and inspire to do their best and at all
times regard our employees as valuable assets for our
sustained development and growth. It is our policy to
strictly comply with all the relevant statutory requirements
in the Labour Law of the PRC (FF ZE A R HE MBI &5 8 %)
and other applicable laws and regulations in the PRC, and
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The Human Resources Department is responsible for the
employment and the relevant policies, which are clearly
laid out in our Employee Handbook, including but not
limited to, appointment, termination, working hours, rest
days, statutory holidays, remunerations, various
compensations, dismissals, health, general safety and other
benefits and welfares.
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The Group is committed to providing employees with
equal opportunity on recruitment, promotion,
compensation and benefits as specified in the relevant
statutory provisions. To ensure a fair and rational human
resources structure, the Group has established job
qualifications and requirements specific to each job
position in the local offices. They are taken as criteria for
recruitment, promotion and transfer. The recruitment and
decision-making processes involve both the relevant
operational levels and the Human Resources Department.
All employees enter into proper and standard employment
contracts between the Group as required by law.
Employment of child labor and forced labor is expressly
and strictly forbidden.

In accordance with the requirements of the national laws
of the PRC such as Social Insurance Law of the PRC (F Z&
AR HEME L SRERE), the Administrative Regulations
on Housing Provident Funds (¥ & A & € & £ &) and
local Employment and Labour Law of Hong Kong, the
Group provides and maintains statutory benefits to all
qualified staff, including but not limited to mandatory
provident fund, social security insurance, medical
insurance, work injury insurance and compensation and
statutory holidays.

Employees’ remunerations are determined with reference
to the prevailing market level in line with their competency,
qualifications, experience and job position. Discretionary
bonuses of such amounts and at such intervals for internal
employees will be rewarded at the discretion of the top
management with consideration on performance.
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Employment of the Group: REFEFEL -
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had the el Ol SR
following employment breakdown: LEFE  AEEBEUTEAN
BAAA
Mal —
E=lEd 69
<
Y 2020
£y 12 it Vo
2019
—E-NEF

Figure 1: Number of Employee by Sex
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Figure 2: Number of Employee by Employment Type
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Figure 3: Number of Employee by Role
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Figure 4: Number of Employee by Age
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During the 2020 Reporting Period, the Group did not have
any incidents of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare. We are confident that the Group will achieve the
same result for the coming year.
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Employment Turnover of the Group: REEES TR -
For the 2020 Reporting Period, a total of 28 employees RZEBEZEFREH 68
voluntarily left for various reasons such as personal and 28% & B R B fib a0 & A s H
further career development. A breakdown of the fEEBRENIESR S DNEER -
employment turnover rates of the Group are broken down EERARMNBEMNT -
as follows:

Total

#Et

Male employees 32.79%
BEE

Female employees | 0.00%
==

Figure 5: Employment Turnover Rate by Sex

BT 'EBIE 72 AR IE K F

Total

#ET

Under 30
3004

22.22%
31-40
41-50 | 0.00%

51-60 66.67%

Over 60 | 0.00%
6054

F/'gure 6' Employment Turnover Rate by Age
C RERE D HIER A E
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B2:

Health and Safety

Given the nature of the Group's business in metal products
related manufacturing, and being a responsible employer,
the Group considers the health and safety of employees as
our primary concern. We are focused on personal
accountability, proactive hazard and incident management,
risk mitigation and creating a positive health and wellbeing
culture.

The Work Safety Law of the PRC (2 A R & 2 4
EE)%) is the overriding law regulating health and safety of
employees in our operations. However, leadership and
culture are critical to embedding the importance of health
and safety throughout our Group. Department managers
and all employees are’ required to complete training to
understand the practicalities of health and safety laws and
regulations, and how they apply to our business particularly
manufacturing practices. Specific safety rules, instructions
and procedures for the safe operation of plants and
employee safety are detailed in our Employee Handbook.
The Safety Officer is responsible for the work safety and has
composed a Safety Manual, which contains the relevant
regulations and standards and developed processes
applicable to our manufacturing operations.

All employees are required to strictly observe the health
and safety policies, instructions and guidance and to follow
the same at work and to place safety as their priority over
production. Managers and supervisors are charged with
the responsibility of ensuring that safety policies, rules and
practices are observed. The Group has also taken out the
required insurance for all employees in accordance with
the statutory requirements of their employment locations.
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The Group has equipped its production facilities with all
the required safety equipment and facilities. We regularly
purchase and ensure that all employees, at all times, have
available and wear their labour safety equipment, such as
safety helmets, gloves, and goggles. We also regularly
conduct safety inspections and tests across all levels of our
production facilities and manufacturing process. For
example, we annually carry out the inspection and testing
of heavy machineries to ensure we have satisfied our duty
to comply with provisions concerning the Safety
Supervision of Lifting Machinery (12 S ## Z2 2 BL SR 31 7E).
We also have been accredited with the Work Safety
Standardization Certificate (effective until September 2020)
in compliance with the recommendations or proposals
issued by the Dongguan City Safety Production Supervision
Administration Changping Branch (B3 & 2 A4 FE S &
EERTEFHB)relating to work and production safety.

In-house rules require all injuries or accidents to be
promptly reported and properly dealt with in accordance
with the national or local laws. In parallel, remedial or
compensatory actions arising from safety and health issues
or work injuries are required to be taken immediately
where necessary as stipulated by the in-house rules. The
Group did not have any record on any claim disputes on
compensation or work-related injury investigation by the
government officials in the 2020 Reporting Period.

During the 2020 Reporting Period, there were 3 light injury
cases of the factory workers from careless work. Care was
provided immediately and no loss days were recorded. As
for the 2019 Reporting Period, there was only 1 light injury
case of a factory worker catching his/her arm under a box
and the injury was well taken care immediately after the
occurrence with no disputes or claims arising thereafter.
Furthermore, there were no other accidents or incidents of
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating
to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards which could have
significant impact on the production operations or
businesses of the Group. Our low injury rate shows that our
safety and health policies and measures including training
are effectively implemented and adhered to. The Group
targets to achieve a zero injury and causality result for the
coming year.
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Development and Training

As a professional organisation, we provide our employees
with numerous career development and job-specific
training opportunities covering a range of areas, including
but not limited to professional development, trade skills,
quality improvement, customer service, leadership and
safety. Employees are encouraged to engage in self-
development by taking external training programs and
seminars.

During 2020 Reporting Period, approximately 73.61% of the
employees have undergone training.

Below is the breakdown stating the percentage of
employees trained during the 2020 Reporting Period and
the 2019 Reporting Period by sex and role:

Training (No. of employees)
EI(ETHA)

Male 2020
B i
2019
—E-NF
Female 2020
g3 —F-FF
2019
T-NF
Managerial 2020
EEAR —EIERF
2019
—T-NF
Operational 2020
XBAB —B-EF
2019
—NEF
General 2020
—RAE —B-FF
2019
—F-NF
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Below is the breakdown stating the hours of training TRERZZE-_ZFHRERR
provided during the 2020 Reporting Period and the 2019 ZE—NFRE IR ER R
Reporting Period by sex and role: 2 Bl 55 /Y BT 12 4 15 5l s 20 PR
A -
Training (Hours) Internal External
A (B2 A EB ShEB
Total employee trained 2020 32.50 0.56
BEIEEAH —EDERF
2019 0.1 =
—E-NEF
Male 2020 1,620.00 10.00
B ZEDERF
2019 7.67 =
—BNEF
Female 2020 720.00 30.00
7 —EIEF
2019 133 =
—E-NEF
Managerial 2020 312.00 40.00
BEEAER —EDERF
2019 144 S
—E-NEF
Operational 2020 - -
EBAE —EIEF
2019 033 =
—ET-NF
General 2020 2,028.00 -
—RAB —EC-BF
2019 7.22 =
—E-NEF
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Labor Standards

The Group adopts the statutory requirements and
standards applicable to our business operations to be our
minimum labor standard on labor protection and welfare.
The Group is committed to ensuring its full compliance
and all management and supervisory levels are made
aware of this.

Banning the employment of child labor, illegal workers and
forced labor is achieved through the recruitment and
employment process at source by the Human Resources
Department. All job applicants are required to submit their
credentials such as academic qualifications, professional
skill certificates, references and identity card for verification
and record purpose during recruitment. Such information
is kept as the employee’s personal file for record and future
reference and government inspection.

The Head of the Human Resources Department and the
heads of relevant department are charged with the duty of
overseeing its compliance and are also responsible for
ensuring that all labor protection and welfare obligations
are complied with and any breaches of statutory
compliance are brought to the attention of the senior
levels.

During the 2020 Reporting Period, no case of any child
labor or forced labor employment was reported or
detected.
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Supply Chain Management

The Procurement Department is responsible for the
procurement of raw materials. It also manages the
procurement price, cost and supplier based on the
company'’s development plan and sales targets, and to
keep enough inventories to meet customer requirements.

The principal raw materials that we use for the
manufacturing of slewing rings include forged rings
(primarily made from gear steel and carbon round steel),
steel balls and spacers. Our suppliers of raw materials are
located in the PRC. We do not enter into any long-term
supply agreements with our suppliers. We procure our raw
materials by individual sales orders on a case by case basis
and the selling price and quantity of the raw materials
required is negotiated on a case by case basis as and when
we require the materials to meet a new sales order.

The Group has, in place, a very detailed supply and
purchase management system adopting different approval
authorities at different hierarchy levels of the Management
Team depending upon the department and the types of
purchase transactions they enter into.

In general, the Purchase Manager, Finance Director, COO
and CEO form the execution and supervision purchase
chain at different monetary levels. Each level is accountable
to the one above on their monetary limits they are
authorized to purchase. Purchasers are required not to
place an order when the authorization cannot meet its
designated level. The approving level is required to ensure
that requests for purchase are in order before authorizing.

All purchases of the Group in principle follow the
established prevalent trade practice and industry norms
under which 3 tenderers (where possible) or more will be
invited for tender depending on various factors like
contract value, amount involved, any other technicality and
time constraints. All purchase transactions are subject to
the scrutiny of internal hierarchy supervisions at different
levels depending on its contract value and significance and
to the overall scrutiny of external independent audit
checks. All capital expenditure purchases have to be
authorized and approved by the headquarters.
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Specificity, timeliness, quantity and quality are the major
selection criteria suppliers. Sustainability and our carbon
footprint are also considered in our selection process.
Technical standards agreements covering chemical
composition, mechanical performance etc. are typically
entered into with suppliers of raw materials particularly
forged rings.

During the 2020 Reporting Period, owing to the special
nature of our raw materials, we only sourced raw materials
from 6 local suppliers and no raw materials were sourced
from overseas. The decrease in local supplier was to
streamline our sourcing to cooperate with suppliers that
benefit us financially and operates both environmentally
and socially.

Product Responsibilities

Product Quality

We are focused on high quality assurance as we believe
that the quality and consistency of our products are critical
to our ability to retain our customers and to expand market
share. We not only maintain ISO 9001:2008/15 quality
management system(s) which the group has been certified
since 2008, but also comply with some of the highest
international standards as required by our Japanese
customers including the JIS, JB and JB/T standards in Japan.
To maintain our competitive edge and continuously
improve quality and sustainability, we are also committed
to investing in increasing our production capabilities with
new high-end plants and equipment and automation
technologies. For example, new machines are equipped
with thermostats which ensure the temperature is
consistent and help to reduce cracking of slewing rings
and product failure rate. By working closely with our
customers, we are able to keep abreast of the latest
product development and knowledge.
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The major parts of our quality assurance procedures and

processes are:

Our quality assurance team inspects the incoming
materials to ensure they are in line with our purchase
order, such as the quantity, specifications, serial
number, material, dimension and the physical
condition. We will also check the test report provided
by our supplier. For forged rings, we also check the
serial number marked or imprinted on them to
ensure that the material supplied is correct.

On a sampling basis, we will take measurement of,
and conduct visual inspection on our forged rings to
see if there are any defects on their surface.

On a sampling basis, we arrange for independent
services providers to check the chemical
composition of our incoming raw materials. This is to
make sure that the chemical composition conforms
to our specifications set forth in our purchase order.

For the steel balls, our inspection team regularly
inspects their sphericity and hardness on a sampling
basis. We return substandard raw materials to
suppliers if they do not pass our inspection.

Upon completion of the manufacturing process, our
quality assurance department will conduct final
quality assurance test on the products, which
includes measuring the assembly clearance and
whether the outer and inner rings can rotate
smoothly.

In order to ensure that our heat treatment is carried
out properly and up to the standard required by our
customers, we take samples from the finished
products for tests and dissect them to perform
various tests on their precision and accuracy and
other quality requirements.

We conduct quality testing on all finished products
to ensure that they comply with our customers’
specifications
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Our general warranty policy is to provide a warranty period
of 1,500-3,000 hours of operation or one to two years
(whichever occurs first), and we will not be liable if the
warranty period has expired. If, during the warranty period,
our products are found substandard, we will be liable to
indemnify our customers of their acquisition costs of the
product, and in some instances of the repairing costs and
other disbursements.

During the 2020 Reporting Period, heat treatment for the
entire work-in-progress was conducted with the average
passing rate being approximately 99%. Due to the very
specific nature of our products and the requirements for
near perfect quality assurance, we had 0% return on goods
sold and did not encounter any material warranty claim.
The only complaints received were due to a packaging
issue with the lining of some boxes and such complaints
were dealt with efficiently without affecting our future
business relationship. In the coming year, we will continue
to stringently control and improve our product quality
even further with a target of zero complaints.

Handling of Complaints

Policies and procedures are in place to ensure that all
customer complaints or concerns are addressed to at the
appropriate levels in a timely manner. In our sales contracts,
there are clear clauses specifying our responsibilities under
quality issues. The Sales Department is responsible for
handling all sales complaint issues. Standing arrangements
are also in place for an independent third party to
adjudicate on any unresolved disputes between the Sales
Department and the client. Consequential remedial actions
will be taken promptly and in a responsible manner. During
the 2020 Reporting Period, we only received no complaints
regarding some packaging lining issues and this was dealt
with efficiently, so as not to affect our business relations.
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Intellectual Property Right

The Group, up to the end of the 2020 Reporting Period, has
built up a portfolio of intellectual property rights including
13 patents registered in the PRC that are material to our
business as well as 14 trademarks registered in the PRC
and/or Hong Kong.

We primarily rely on trademark and intellectual property
laws, and confidentiality agreements with our senior
employees, to protect all intellectual property relating to
the Group and operations. We purchase and utilise fully
licensed software in our operations.

For the 2020 Reporting Period, the Group did not have any
of any infringement of its or any other intellectual property
rights including which had or could have a material
adverse effect on our business, and there were no legal
proceedings against the Group. We will continue to
maintain similar results on intellectual property rights in
the coming years ahead.

Privacy

The Group’s main business and operation has generated a
substantial volume of private, confidential and sensitive
information of customers, suppliers, business partners
including the operation status and financial positions,
commercial terms of contracts, general background
information, patented production technology, etc. These
types of information are extremely sensitive and important,
and by law, have to be cautiously safeguarded and
protected. The Group fully understands its obligation and
has taken measures to ensure strictest protection of the
information against unauthorized access, use and
disclosure through a variety of security technologies and
procedures.

The Group fully abides by all relevant laws and regulations
regarding privacy and utilization of data. Our employees
have been trained to handle the sensitive information
during the course of business with due care. The Group has
incorporated the Confidential Clause into the Staff
Handbook and Employment Contract, under which all
employees are obligated to follow.
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During the 2020 Reporting Period, the Group did not have
any incidents of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to advertising, labelling and privacy matters. We
also target the same result for the coming years ahead.

Anti-corruption

The Group is well aware of the importance of honesty,
integrity and fairness in our business operations and has
therefore put in place an anti-corruption policy. All
employees are required to declare any conflicts of interests
in the execution of their roles and duties. Through the
establishment of these rules and regulations, the Group
encourages all employees to discharge their duties with
integrity and comply with the relevant laws and
regulations.

Transactions in large monetary sums are processed
through bank transactions which require authorized
signatories of the appropriate levels depending on the
amount involved. Checks and balances have been installed
in the Group for money transaction activities and are
considered effective and adequate.

During the 2020 Reporting Period, the Group recorded no
bribery nor corruption charges and is confident to achieve
a similar result for the coming years ahead.

Community Investment

The Group fully understands our social obligations and the
need for re-contributing to the society. Through the day-
to-day contact with various local government officials and
industry leaders, the Group continues to explore and
examine what and how the Group can contribute more
and in a better way to the local community and society.
The Group encourages and supports our staff and workers
to participate in voluntary social welfare works such as to
give paid leave for such activities. During the 2020
Reporting Period, the Group contributed small amounts to
local charities and organizations.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 109 to
178, which comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2020;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA”") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter identified in our audit is the provision for slow moving

inventories.

Key Audit Matter

RARETEE

T N % A R

BEETEE %)

BAEFH B RRE
B -

AEERBHEETE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETNAEERARETNSE

Provision for slow moving inventories

T ERE

Refer to notes 2.19 and 4(a) to the consolidated financial
statements for the disclosures of the related accounting policies,
judgements and estimates.
BREEE TR - b R
72,19 K 4(a)

F2HRE

AR Z

BF 7 3R P

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of Group's
inventories amounted to HK$23,867,000 after considering the
provision for slow moving inventories of HK$329,000. Inventories,
comprising slewing rings, are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value in the consolidated balance sheet.
RZZBZZF+_RAR=+—B RARFHEFERE
329,000 1% - ANEEIRE M EREE S 23,867,000 T ° 17
S (BREEBXA)NGREERBERAKNEZRFE
ZBIEERE -

Management determined the provision for slow moving
inventories at each period end. The identification of slow moving
inventories requires the use of significant judgements and key
assumptions which takes into consideration historical sales
patterns, ageing and expectations for future sales orders. Such
judgement is subject to uncertainties as a result of changes in
market trends and customer demands.

EEEREHREERHFERE FHFENRRITR

ERERHE RERKRR  MEDFEBEHRERN K
R ARRHETENTEY - ZFHEXMEBERER

ZRMNEHMEHNTHEERNEZE

Our procedures in relation to management’s provision for slow
moving inventories include:

BMEHERRHEFERENETFERE

We obtained an understanding of the management'’s
internal control and assessment process of provision for
slow moving inventories and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors;

BT RERBH N FHT BB EN RIS &
fhmig - Wil ﬂ%ﬁﬁ#Tﬁm&#ﬁﬁlﬁﬂ
REMRE @ SHEEXRERNES RRE

We evaluated and tested key controls by which
management identified slow moving inventories and
determined the inventory provisions;
B R E R ERRIFHT R
e RS ES IR G

T REBEFER

We performed the retrospective review to evaluate the
outcome of prior period assessment on provision for
slow moving inventories to assess the effectiveness of
management's estimation process;

HAPIE L B AR R AT (R 877 B B @B B
MEHEER - WFEERENGEFIRIZRE A5

We tested the accuracy of the inventory ageing report
on a sample basis by tracing to purchase invoices and
delivery documents;
BFERERRBEERIMA X HEAHFER
B E R ERE

We enquired with management about their business
plans and reviewed historical sales patterns to
understand and assess the expected life cycle of
inventories;

HMmEREEARENERE MEEMBEH
EHENXU T 8 R F R A A F R
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FEEITEE %)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HARESEE RANETNMEERRETSEE

Provision for slow moving inventories (Continued)

FHEERE(E)

We focused on this area because inventories is a material balance - For slow moving inventories where management
and judgements are involved in estimating the provision for considered provision is not required as they are
inventories, which is subject to a significant estimation supported by sales forecast prepared based on historical
uncertainty and could result in financial impact on the sales pattern, we analysed, on a sample basis, the
consolidated financial statements. reasonableness of management’s forecast by comparing
HKMEFBINEE AR TEARNGTEERERMY the expected sales volume and net realisable value to
RoE RS R HE - HRSR A EX M1 E Mol historical sales patterns and expectation of future sales
BT S ISR EX M B E - orders;

REEERSBAELBREBENFHTE (BRRE
BEHERNBENEERAAF)ME - HA
BREBRERHENTERFERBEHERA R
RKHETENTEY - RO MEREREAMNSIE
RE

For slow moving inventories where management
considered provision is not required as they are
supported by secured sales orders, we tested, on a
sample basis, the sales orders received from customers
and net realisable value of products by comparing the
estimated selling price and sales quantity of individual
product with the corresponding post year-end sales
data; and
HEBERRBAELBENFHTE (HNEHA
FERBEMEETEXRH)ME  AMNEBLEE
BERIEmRNEAEERHEERMERFREHER
B MR REFPFEENGTERERA] I F
B: &

We tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculation
of inventory provision.

BB FEREENEMERE -

Based on our evidence obtained and procedures performed,
we considered the judgements and assumptions made by
management in relation to their assessment for provision of
slow moving inventories were supportable.
BREZRFPMENEELATOIE  RARREEER
T H T BB A AT VB 0 I R (R R AT S % o
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate treats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chan Hin Gay Gabriel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e EmlE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 Bt 2 = FE = FF+ = =+—HIFFZ

2020 2019
—E-EF E
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET T
Revenue & 5 69,499 67,509
Cost of sales SHE A 6 (43,362) (36,042)
Gross profit EX 26,137 31,467
Other income HA YA 8 632 401
Other (losses)/gains, net Hi (BB), WS 55 9 (1,047) 208
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHFAX 6 (1,080) (985)
Administrative expenses THAX 6 (8,346) (20,409)
Operating profit KR F 16,296 10,682
Finance income BhE A 11 69 9
Finance cost BhE AR 11 (113) (134)
Finance cost, net &P AT RE (44) (125)
Profit before income tax Br AT BB AR R 16,252 10,557
Income tax expense FIS i 12 (2,608) (3,594)
Profit for the year attributable to owners NAEHEE AL
of the Company F R 13,644 6,963
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hip 2wk (FE)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss AJBEE R 7 E B i
HE
Currency translation differences ERHmEEE 23 3,032 (691)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREZAEKGZEE 16,676 6,272
Earnings per share for profit attributable to KRR RIS A AL
equity holders of the Company for the year F % B =R &R
Basic and diluted earnings per share FRERN N EEET
(HK cents per share) (FRZHAAL) 13 3.4 22

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read 4R & 2 Uz 55 & EEfE MY B o — HF R RE -
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

HEEERER

As at 31 December 20200 R=FE=FF+=F=+—H

2020
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET TFETT
Assets EE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BMENMEKRE 15 8,507 7,425
Intangible asset By AE 16 - 75
Prepayments and deposits FENRBERES 19 4,261 2,235
Deferred tax assets RIETHIBE = 28 78 64
12,846 9,799
Current assets REEE
Inventories Ny 20 23,867 23,194
Trade receivables E 5T 18 22,028 16,884
Prepayments, deposits and TERTFRIE Tﬁz‘i\&
other receivables H b e IR IA 19 5,564 2,129
Current income tax recoverable AT Yo B ERER 15 7% 152 -
Cash and cash equivalents B RBESZEY 21 43,130 49,040
94,741 91,247
Total assets EEHE 107,587 101,046
Equity and liabilities EERAE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RNEHER AEIL S
Share capital A% A 22 4,000 4,000
Reserves R 23 97,074 88,398
Total equity AR 101,074 92,398
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
e EERAER

As at 31 December 20200 R = FE=FF+=F=+—H

2020
—EEHF
HK$’000 HKS'000
THExT TFETT
Liabilities =N
Non-current liability FnBAE
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 79 2,338
79 2,338
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B S ENIE 25 4,465 1,503
Accruals and other payables FEET B R M E b e FA 26 1,868 2,306
Current income tax liabilities BNEAPTIS R B & - 2,124
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 101 377
6,434 6,310
Total liabilities =REEabE 6,513 8,648
Total equity and liabilities EEREEHRE 107,587 101,046

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 178 were approved by
the Board of Directors on 22 March 2021 and were signed on its behalf.

Chan Yuk Pan
PR 42 H2
Director

EF

LatERE B E B BRI EREM AT — GBI

FI109E 178 ENGEAMBHRREBEFTEN
T_—F-A- AR IRREFER
2o

Chan Lung Pan
BRRE

Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 62 = FE =T F 1+ = HA=+—HI-FZ

Share Share Capital Statutory  Exchange Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve eamings Total
BkE BRbhEE AAREE  AEREE  ERGE  REE B
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
(Note 22) (Note 22) (Note 23) (Note 23) (Note 23)
(Fsk22)  (BsE2)  (BaE23)  (BiEE23)  (FEeE23)
Balance at 1 January 2019 RZZE-N&—A—H
ioE > = 13,000 1,222 55 25,338 39615
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - 6963 6,963
Other comprehensive loss Htt2EER
Currency translation differences EEhEEE = = = = (691) = (691)
Total comprehensive (l0ss)/ FNZE(BE) M&a
income for the year B - - - - (691) 6,963 6,272
Transactions with equity holders: SREZEEANRTS
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant 1B E AL BT LB
tothe capitalization (Note 22(0))  (FffzE 22(b)) 3,000 (3,000 = = = = =
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant 1845 F 317X Bk
to the listing (as detailed in Note) (5% 22(c))
(Note 22(c)) 1,000 54,000 - - - - 55,000
Listing related expenses charged ~ FARR{D i BB EY
to share premium HERX = (8489) = e = (8489)
Transfer to statutory reserve BT LTRE - - - 948 - (948) -
4000 4250 - 948 - (048 46511
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZE-N%F
TZRA=T—H8% 4000 451 13,000 2170 (636) 31353 92,398
112 BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - skt & &= B2 iR 5 IR /1 7]



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
A S THE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 Bt 2 = FE = FF+ = =+—HIFFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company
LYNEIE 1PN 3
Share Share Capital  Statutory Exchange  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total

BA  ROEE EARE ZERE ELRE  REERN @t

HK$’'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TET TAT TER TER TET TAT
(Note22) (Note22) (Note23) (Note23) (Note23)
(WaE22)  (MiaE22)  (Ea3)  (FfaEa3)  (BYaEa3)

Balance at 1 January 2020 R-Z-25-A-H
iof37 4,000 42,511 13,000 2,170 (636) 31,353 92,398
Profit for the year EREHN - - - - - 13,644 13,644

Other comprehensiveincome ~ EHfi2E %

Currency translation differences Bl EEE - - - = 3,032 = 3,032
Total comprehensive income FREENGEE
for the year - - - - 3,032 13,644 16,676

Transactions with equity holders: EEXEEANRS
Dividends paid BENRE - (8,000) - - = = (8,000)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRTLTRE = = = 506 - (506) -

- (8,000) - 506 - (506) (8,000)

Balance at 31 December 2020 R-ZBE_EE
+ZR=1+-BtEe 4,000 34,511 13,000 2,676 2,396 44,491 101,074

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in AR & #5548 3% 8 ERBE P P 5 — OF B AE -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
melRenEx

For the year ended 31 December 2020 62 = FE =T F 1+ = HA=+—HI-FZ

2020 2019
—E-EF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt aE FET T

Cash flows from operating activities EETEBRERE
Cash generated from/(used in) operations %&% 718/ (FrA) |4 30(a) 15,963 (579)
Income tax paid BEATFTISH (4,890) (1.975)
Interest received BEUHE 69 9
Net cash generated from/(used in) weEEE S (FrA)

operating activities BERE 11,142 (2,545)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHESRE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BWENRE (1,035) (79)
Prepayments for purchase of property, BEYE BEX

plant and equipment BN NEEE (4,243) (2,235)
Purchase of intangible assets BEERLEE - (83)
Net cash used in investing activities RETHFMARSFE (5,278) (2397)
Cash flows from financing activities AEETHESRE
Payment of interest elements of lease liabilities XHEaEMNEE S (113) (10)
Payment of principal elements of lease liabilities X ffFHE & & ﬁﬁa‘ﬁﬁ (3,757) (147)
Payment of listing expenses to be capitalized SRR ERAR £

into equity FZ TR = (7,354)
Proceeds from shares issued pursuant to $E}T§J:ﬁ§§ﬁﬁ§1ﬁ

the Listing FTiS 703 - 55,000
Dividends paid Eﬁﬁxu (8,000) =
Net cash (used in)/generated from BESES (FTA), s

financing activities REeFE (11,870) 47,489
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents IR & MRS ZEY

ORi) /i n (6,006) 42,547

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year E=41IR 4 MRS ZEY 49,040 6,562
Currency translation differences ERBREEE 96 (69)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of theyear FRIEERBEZEY 43,130 49,040

iR S IR S B A B HE M P A — BFBOAE o

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law
3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands and its
shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the Company’s
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of machinery
product. (the “Business”) The ultimate holding company of the
Company is C Centrum Holdings Limited (“C Centrum”). The ultimate
shareholder of the Group is Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (“Mr. YP Chan”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKS$") unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") and disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under historical cost convention.
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed
in note 4.

AU BHRRN

—REH

AABIRBEREFSEOIELERAE
(= NAR—FFIPED - 84586 RIBET)
EHRERFSEMKT AERRER AT
ERONREABBEXSAEBMR A ([ B
REDGEM LT o AR AR M I = E
# #HF & Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands ©

RABRKREEZERLE - EMBAREE
NEREREBRNER(FEEL]) -
QAW & KER A A ACCentrum
Holdings Limited ([C Centrum |) = 7 £= [&]
WERERRABRENEE(THREN X
)

Br B E RN - SRA M EREIAB T B
DEX TS

ERSTERBE

REEEMBHRREEANEIEGK
REIIN T  FRIFRIMERH - ZFBR
RIFE2IFRERER -

21 REEE
REMBRERNDBEMEEREE
B RELE([ERMBREE
Bl REBEBEMNE2EFB QA
EOIMHER TR - R UKR
RIVRBELKABHRE - RE
REBEVHHRE LIRS IS
RERTEEFEAETHARS G -
FEEAAEESTHRERABREF IR
TEEEETELAE - SREIE
EFHE SR EMENEBERERR
ﬁ#ﬁ@A%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ BERH

BN FE4INEE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ArE B mRN T

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Amended standards and interpretations
(a)  Amended standards and interpretations adopted by the
Group
The Group has applied the following amendments
to standard for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2020:

Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3
Amendments to Definition of Material

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Conceptual Framework  Revised Conceptual

for Financial Framework for
Reporting 2018 Financial Reporting
Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment
HKAS 19 or Settlement
Amendment to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9
and HKAS 39

The adoption of these amendments to standards
and interpretations of HKFRS did not have any
significant impact on the current period or any prior
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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N

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHBEMEw

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEEE)

2.1.1 Amended standards and interpretations (Continued) 2.1.1 BIETEARRE(2)
(b)  New and amended standards and interpretations (b) EAEAEMAE ERAERK
which have been issued but are not yet effective and A REKREFIRF RN
have not been early adopted by the Group: YT ET R A& 5T 2E Bl J
2FE

Certain new and amended standards and
interpretations have been published that are
mandatory for financial year beginning on or after 1
January 2021 have not been early adopted by the

Company. These are:

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BB HIREERE 165 (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 16

BEGRTERIE 165% (BRI A)

Amendments to HKFRS 3
ARV BEHREERE 3R (BEFTR)
Amendments to HKAS 37

FE gt ERISE 375 (BFTA)
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

E}ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%#ﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁu T-N\FE
—ERoRE/FRUE
HKFRS 17

BB EHRELERIZE 1757

Amendments to HKAS 1
BB GFERIZE 15 (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BRUBREENF 1058 R
R GRTERIZE 285 (BRI A)

AT A RIS ET 2R
LBREBEAEM KA
RZE-——F—H—H
5 18 1) B I8 & 5 ) B
B ERERAEERSE

R o 2 BEAR
Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RTHBMHE &
BRI SR IR AN
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020
Covid-1948RE 2 & &R —EFFRA—H
Property, Plant and Equipment: 1 January 2022
Proceeds before Intended Use
%% BB K&t - RERE e o]
PRI AT Z P 1S R0R
Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
S S EaiE —E-__f—H—H
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling 1 January 2022
a Contract
BREH — BITAKHKA —E__%—H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, 1 January 2022
HKFRS16 and HKAS 41
BEMEMEERIE 155 —E__%—H—H
BB RELERE 5 -
BEMBREERF 1657 %
ERGFERIE 41 5% (BFTA)
Insurance contract 1 January 2023
AR =l s -
Classification of Liabilities as Current 1 January 2023
or Non-current
BESEARBIIERD —ZET-=%—HF—H

Sale or Contribution of assets between To be determined
an investor and its associate or

joint venture

KEEHEEBERNFHEE AT FE
ZEMEBEHESEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Amended standards and interpretations (Continued)

(b)  New and amended standards and interpretations
which have been issued but are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group:
(Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations of HKFRS and is not
yet in a position to state whether they would have a
significant impact on the Group's results and
financial position.

2.2 Subsidiaries

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - 7Bt

2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has the control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.2 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if
the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker (the “CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the executive directors who make strategic
decisions.

AU BHRRN
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BEASTEBERBE#)

2.2

23

B DR (&)

2.2.2 BIYBHBHRR
AARBRWB AR ZIZER
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BB HmRW T

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - 7Bt

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency’). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the Company’s functional
and the Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are generally recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income within
“other (losses)/gains, net”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Group companies
The results and financial positions of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the
financial period in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

25

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated using the
straight line method to allocate their cost to their residual values
over its estimated useful lives, as follows:

Plant and machinery 10 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 3 years

Shorter of lease terms
and useful lives

Leasehold improvements

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“other (losses)/gains, net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise system software, acquired computer
software are capitalised on the basis of the cost incurred to
acquire and bring the specific software into usage. These costs
are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful life of 1-3 years. Cost associated with maintaining
computer software programs are recognised as an expense as

incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An

impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the

asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The

recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which

there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating

units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an

impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment

at each reporting date.

Financial assets

(a)

(b)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets as those to be
measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement
Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group's business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. Assets that are
held for collection of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows represented solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in “other (losses)/gains, net” together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assess on a forward looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 3 details
how the Group determines whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimation of
credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the
expected life of the financial assets.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the assets. The provision
matrix is determined based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the trade receivables with similar credit
risk characteristics and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates.
At every reporting date the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Financial liabilities

(a)

(b)

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also
recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The Group also derecognises a financial liability
when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability arc substantially different. In this case, a
new financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognised at fair value. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and
the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised
in profit or loss.

2.11 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the balance sheet where the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group has also entered
into arrangements that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but

still allow for the related amounts to be set off in certain

circumstances, such as bankruptcy or the termination of a

contract.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.
They are generally due for settlement within 30 days and
therefore all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value.
The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective of
collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. See note 18 for further information about the Group's
accounting for trade receivables and note 2.9 for a description of
the Group's impairment policies.

2.13 Inventories

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter
being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs
are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of
weighted average costs. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include deposits held at call with banks and cash on
hand.

2.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EARETBEREE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period's taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the company and its
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. The Group measures its tax balances
either based on the most likely amount or the expected value,
depending on which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwiill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and
where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits

(@

(ii)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected to
be settled wholly within twelve months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up
to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

Retirement benefits plans

The Group contributed to a mandatory provident fund
scheme (the "“"MPF Scheme”) which is a defined
contribution plan and is available to all employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions to the MPF Scheme by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The MPF Scheme cost charged to profit or
loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the
MPF Scheme.

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.

Full time employees of the Group’s PRC entity participate
in a government mandated multi-employer defined
contribution plan pursuant to which certain pension
benefits, medical care, unemployment insurance,
employee housing fund and other these benefits based on
certain percentage of the employees’ salaries. Full time
employees who have passed the probation period are
entitled to such benefits.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contribution are
recognised as employee benefit expenses when they are
due and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in
the future payments is available. The Group did not have
defined benefit plans.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses based on a formula that takes into consideration
the profit attributable to the company’s shareholders after
certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
anyone item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

2.20 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised
because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be
recognised as a provision.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BASTHEEME R
POLICIES (Continued)
2.21 Revenue recognition 2.21 WERER

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sales of goods in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the good is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
good may be transferred over time or at a point in time.

Control of the good is transferred over time if the Group's
performance:

provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods. Specific criteria where
revenue is recognised are described below.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated balance sheet as a
contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the
relationship between the entity’s performance and the
customer’s payment.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional
right to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for
the Group's activity as described below:

The Group manufactures and sells a range of machinery products
to customers. Sales of goods transferred at a point in time are
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being
when the products are delivered to the customers, the customer
has full discretion over the usage of the products, and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance
of the products. No element of financing is deemed present as
the sales are made with a credit term of 30-120 days, which is
consistent with market practice.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers the promised goods to the customer, the Group
presents the contract as a contract liability when the payment is
received or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A
contract liability is the Group's obligation to transfer the promised
goods to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

2.22 Earnings per share

(i)  Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the
year and excluding treasury shares.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - 7Bt 22 &= B2 i 5 BR A &)

2

BEARSTHERE &)

2.21 WERBER(E)

ERmSENE TAAREEBH
FrE RN - EeRER e

REBAEFEENMIBEESEEM
Em e EEMMIES#EC &% (A
ERXNTREEZE)  BFEEEFE
AZEEMNTEINEE  BfE
A ERFPEIEMNAEITR
A BREXSHSEEERS
HE - ANEEHREEHE
120 BT - METEER - LT
FERERZE -

MR AEEEEAAERTEP
Al BEEXAREHAEEE#EE
BRI ESE - ANEEEK
R EYFIBAR(ABREER
B)R2IEHNRANAE - AN
BEAAKEMD TP KWERE
(HREBEERH) M@ EEA
AEmEE-

2.22 BRER
(i) EBREXEF
BIREARBFTIZ T 5 &t
’7%; :

BRIAR DB A AR
M TREEAER
P DASIN ) BR A5 A 2 P AR

BRUAZMRFEEHBE

BT AR AN FE
HXT HE - WIREFRA
AT HY L AR &9 AR ) 58
B (HBREFAR) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BHRRN

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EARESTHEBE@
POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Earnings per share (Continued) 222 BREBR (&)
(i) Diluted earnings per share (il BREBESER
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the FREER A A EFRE
determination of basic earnings per share to take into REFTAREIE @ 5T
account:
the after-income tax effect of interest and other EEEH ST RAREE
financing costs associated with dilutive potential B B R H At Rl & B AR
ordinary shares; and BIBRPIETRTE Rk
the weighted average number of additional ordinary A BEHEL B
shares that would have been outstanding assuming EEBANE N T
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary TN E A A INAE 15
shares. g o
2.23 Interest income 2.23 FIEWA

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

2.24 Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

2.25 Leases
The Group leases production factory in PRC and office in Hong
Kong. Property leases are typically made for fixed periods of two
to ten years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain various terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used
as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease
and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone
prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the Group is a
lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single lease
component.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on
a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group where
possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing was received.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable
lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included
in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to
lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease
liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Leases (Continued)

BEASTEBERBE#)

2.25 FHE (&)

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets included the rights to use certain properties
under leases which are measured at cost. The initial costs of right-
of-use assets include the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs; and
restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful
life. While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen
not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets
comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

2.26 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholder is recognised
as a liability in the consolidated financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

2.27 Research and development costs

Research and development expenditure is recognised as an
expense as incurred and classified under of cost of sales.
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FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign exchange risk, credit risk, cash flow and fair value interest

rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management

procedures focus on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

(@

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollars
("USD”) and Renminbi ("RMB”). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities, which are denominated in these
currencies. Since Hong Kong dollar (‘"HKD") is pegged to
USD, the Group believes the exposure of transactions
denominated in USD which are entered into the by Group
to be insignificant.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has
not entered into any derivative instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange exposures (2019: Nil).

As at 31 December 2020, if USD has strengthened/
weakened by 5% against RMB, with all other variables held
constant, the post-tax profit for the year would have
change mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses
on translation of USD denominated on cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and
other payables, as follows:
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FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 HEBERERBREARBRERE®)
MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BIEREEE)
(ii) Creditrisk (i) EERRE
(i) Riskmanagement 0 ERE

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, amount
due from a shareholder and cash and cash
equivalents. Majority of bank deposits are placed
with reputable banks and financial institutions. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by
the carrying amount of each financial asset in the
consolidated balance sheet.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that credit
terms are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers. The Group's